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          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  The General

          3  Welfare Committee is called to order.

          4                 I want to welcome everyone and wish

          5  everyone very happy holidays, and thank you for

          6  being here.

          7                 At the outset I'd like to welcome and

          8  acknowledge my colleague, Council Member Annabel

          9  Palma of the Bronx, and we're going to joined

         10  momentarily by the Public Advocate, Betsy Gotbaum.

         11                 To give credit where credit is due,

         12  the legislation that we're discussing today was

         13  introduced by the Public Advocate, and I want to

         14  thank her for that.  I think it's very, very

         15  important legislation because it really responds to

         16  what we have talked about over the last five years

         17  here in the General Welfare Committee, as a real

         18  problem of people in the City who have every right

         19  to benefits that will help them and their families

         20  move towards self- sufficiency, yet they still

         21  consistently don't get those benefits because of

         22  problems in the process of accessing government.  We

         23  all know the example we had with food stamps of the

         24  famous 16- page application form.  I am very proud

         25  of the fact that this Committee and this Council
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          2  helped to get that form down to three pages, which

          3  is something human being can actually deal with.

          4  It's one of many examples of how many barriers there

          5  have been to people getting, again, benefits that

          6  they are absolutely eligible for, that they have

          7  every right for, that are simply going to help them

          8  and their families do better and move ahead.

          9                 Well, the Public Advocate, to her

         10  credit has now added another item to how we can do

         11  better, which is to allow advocacy groups to set up

         12  tables in public benefits offices that can be there

         13  for information and assistance to people in need.

         14                 As we've looked at these problems

         15  over the years, what we've found is so many stories

         16  of people who did their best to qualify and to apply

         17  for benefits, and were either lead astray by bad

         18  information, or didn't happen to have the right

         19  documentation and found the bureaucracy closed the

         20  door in their face, or were at the wrong office, or

         21  did not understand the requirements, and obviously

         22  on top of that we have language issues that we've

         23  tried to act on in this Council as well.  All of

         24  these challenges, all of them fixable, all of them

         25  resolvable, but still stand in the way of families
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          2  getting what they deserve.              Well, the

          3  Public Advocate in her legislation suggests another

          4  common sense solution.  Have experts there from

          5  advocacy organizations who can help people with the

          6  information, with the guidance they need, not every

          7  citizen thinks like a lawyer or like a bureaucrat,

          8  but trained experts from advocacy groups can help

          9  people to think about and to be prepared to handle

         10  their appointments as effectively as possible.

         11                 What this means is that the first

         12  time people come to apply, they can succeed, and

         13  they don't end up having to miss work, miss school,

         14  whatever the case may be, have to find child care.

         15  They don't end up with all these additional delays

         16  and dislocations of their life, and they don't end

         17  up creating a situation where the system fails them

         18  time and time again.  The goal for everyone, whether

         19  it's someone who works in the center or the folks

         20  who run our city government, or the individual

         21  citizen, the goal for everyone should be to get it

         22  right the first time, and we think having these

         23  experts on site is a way to do that.

         24                 I'd also like to note that this is

         25  very consistent with the Mayor's vision for reducing
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          2  poverty in our city, and anything we can do to get

          3  folks the benefits they deserve, helps move the

          4  effort for self- sufficiency.  So with a small

          5  adjustment in the way we do business, we took this

          6  adjustment and allowed these advocates into the

          7  offices, we're actually helping move forward that

          8  larger agenda of fighting poverty, and I think we'd

          9  all agree, the less time a citizen spends at a

         10  government office trying to access the benefit, the

         11  more time they're actually out there either finding

         12  a job, or pursuing a career, pursuing training, all

         13  of the things that help them move forward.

         14                 In the end it's important to

         15  remember, none of this is easy to navigate, and the

         16  whole nature of government benefits process is

         17  complicated, there's no question that every single

         18  one of us who's ever tried to figure out a health

         19  insurance form or anything else, that everyone needs

         20  some help and guidance to do it as well as they can.

         21                 So I think again, we should all be

         22  very appreciative to the Public Advocate for putting

         23  forward this legislation.  She'll be joining us in a

         24  moment, but in the meantime we would like turn to

         25  our panel of representatives in the administration
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          2  from HRA, ACS, and HPD, and we welcome you. Happy

          3  holidays to all of you, and we welcome your

          4  testimony. Who would like to go first?  Please

          5  introduce yourself.

          6                 MR. DIAMOND:  I think I drew the

          7  short straw, so I'm starting.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  That was too

          9  mumbled Mr. Diamond.  Could you say that again?

         10                 MR. DIAMOND:  I said I drew the short

         11  straw so I'm going first.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Okay, get the

         13  microphones close to you please, gentlemen.

         14                 MR. DIAMOND:  Yes, yes, of course.

         15                 Okay, my name is Seth Diamond, and I

         16  am from HRA and good morning and happy holidays to

         17  you, too.

         18                 I am here on behalf of the Human

         19  Resources Administration, and I am also here with

         20  Peter Glase, our Acting General Counsel.

         21                 We are going to discuss our efforts

         22  to comprehensively serve clients who seek services

         23  to all our centers, our mechanisms for interacting

         24  with and receiving input from advocates, and our

         25  concerns about Intro. 359.
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          2                 We recognize that many of our clients

          3  feel more secure in having a representative of

          4  choice accompany them for an appointment to one of

          5  our centers.  In compliance with federal and state

          6  regulations, we allow all of our applicants and

          7  recipients the option to be accompanied by an

          8  attorney, family member or friend, or any

          9  representative of their choice, to assist them with

         10  the application or recertification process.  In

         11  fact, in November 2006, in our ten model Job Centers

         12  alone, more than 1,100 advocates, translators and

         13  others providing support attended appointments with

         14  clients; more than 250 of them identified themselves

         15  specifically as advocates.

         16                 To institutionalize these procedures,

         17  and ensure efficient operations and compliance with

         18  federal and state requirements, Commissioner

         19  Eggleston issued an Executive Order in July 2005,

         20  clarifying that outside access to HRA facilities is

         21  limited to those on official business.

         22                 However, the Executive Order clearly

         23  states that "one or more individuals who accompany a

         24  client to an HRA facility, whether friend, relative

         25  or member of an outside group, in order to serve as
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          2  the client's representative or advocate in

          3  conducting official business with HRA or otherwise

          4  to assist the client in some specific way are deemed

          5  to be there on official business.  Such business may

          6  include, but is not limited to, an application

          7  interview or a conciliation appointment."

          8                 Since the beginning of her tenure,

          9  Commissioner Eggleston has been committed to

         10  improving customer service for all of our clients.

         11  Among other efforts to effectuate this, HRA

         12  developed the model office concept to streamline

         13  work flow, reduce wait time for applicants and

         14  recipients, and create greater, more efficient

         15  access to services in our Centers.

         16                 As I mentioned, ten of our job

         17  centers have been converted to model offices, eight

         18  of which have co-located food stamp offices; seven

         19  HIV/AIDS Services Administration centers have been

         20  converted to model offices; and all of our Medicaid

         21  centers are model offices.  The model office

         22  conversion process is continuing.  All center staff

         23  is properly trained to assist clients in navigating

         24  the application process as well as with any other

         25  issue regarding benefits administered by HRA; and
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          2  for those clients with limited English- speaking

          3  ability, bilingual staff or on-site interpreters are

          4  available for many languages, and assisted phone

          5  interpretation is available for 140 languages, in

          6  addition to American Sign Language.

          7                 HRA is also committed to receiving

          8  input from advocates, and Commissioner Eggleston has

          9  made it a priority to meet regularly with

         10  individuals expressing a wide range of viewpoints.

         11  The Commissioner's Citizens Advisory Committee, an

         12  entity that had been dormant for a long period of

         13  time prior to Commissioner's Eggleston's tenure,

         14  reflects that diversity.  The committee is made up

         15  of advocates, social service providers and those the

         16  agency serves.  Commissioner Eggleston also

         17  established a new advisory mechanism, the Legal

         18  Advisory Committee.  This committee is composed of

         19  legal advocates, including many who are in active

         20  litigation with the City or who have sued the City

         21  in the past.

         22                 As you know, under local law, the

         23  Agency's HASA program has its own advisory board

         24  reflecting the unique nature of the services and

         25  issues confronted by those who are HIV positive or
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          2  who have AIDS.  While there is a structured agenda,

          3  and time and place for the meetings of these groups,

          4  the discussion is free flowing reflecting the broad

          5  range of issues that face the Agency, and all are

          6  invited to participate.

          7                 These meetings, as well as others

          8  held regularly between senior agency staff and

          9  service providers and advocates, are critical both

         10  for informing interested communities of changes in

         11  Agency programs, and for gathering feedback on how

         12  the Agency's services are delivered.  Feedback

         13  received at these meetings has influenced our

         14  program development, and the meetings supplement the

         15  data collection the Agency conducts and are an

         16  important component of our overall program

         17  evaluation.  While feedback and input from all

         18  interested parties is an important component of

         19  developing strong programs, we have serious concerns

         20  about Intro. 359.

         21                 As I know the Committee is aware, Job

         22  Centers, HASA offices and food stamp offices are

         23  places of business where tens of thousands of people

         24  come for assistance each month.  In Job Centers

         25  alone 15,000- 20,000 individuals apply for public
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          2  assistance, and an additional 20,000 are scheduled

          3  for recertification every month.  Many of the

          4  offices have minimal public spaces and are

          5  understandably crowded; giving advocates free access

          6  to these spaces would only make the situation worse.

          7  The presence of advocates in addition to clients and

          8  their representatives conducting official business

          9  would make it difficult at times to maintain the

         10  business environment needed to effectively serve the

         11  public.  The proposed legislation would set up a

         12  chaotic environment where client privacy would be

         13  compromised, and order would be difficult to

         14  maintain.

         15                 In 2004, the Second Circuit Court of

         16  Appeals unanimously upheld HRA's policy of

         17  restricting the access of third parties to HRA

         18  service centers, when they are not there on official

         19  business.  The Court observed that if advocates were

         20  given open access to our centers, clients may feel

         21  pressured to speak to advocates, and that the

         22  legitimacy of a group claiming to act on behalf of a

         23  client's best interest could not be guaranteed.  An

         24  open access policy, the Court found, would lead to

         25  increased processing and supervision costs since HRA
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          2  would have to develop a mechanism to schedule all

          3  advocacy groups seeking access if there is

          4  insufficient space in public areas, and HRA would

          5  have to expend resources policing waiting rooms to

          6  ensure that advocacy organizations are complying

          7  with scheduled access times, and not engaging in

          8  unapproved activities. Enforcing time, place and

          9  manner restrictions could prove difficult.  To be

         10  effective and fair, such rules would have to be

         11  strictly enforced ensuring no one group received any

         12  greater access than any other.

         13                 Pursuant to New York State Social

         14  Services law, the local social services district is

         15  ultimately responsible for the proper administration

         16  of public assistance programs.  As such, we are

         17  accountable for dispensing appropriate and

         18  dependable information that meets the individual

         19  needs of every client that comes into our centers,

         20  and for the accuracy of the decisions we make based

         21  on that information.  We cannot have a situation

         22  where we are unable to monitor the reliability of

         23  the advice that clients are given by even well-

         24  meaning advocates.

         25                 Furthermore, HRA takes the privacy of
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          2  its clients very seriously.  An open access policy

          3  at our centers could violate the privacy and

          4  confidentiality of vulnerable New Yorkers,

          5  especially those seeking services from our HASA

          6  offices. We do not believe it would be appropriate

          7  to expose our clients without their knowledge or

          8  consent, to strangers in our centers, at what are

          9  often extremely difficult times in their lives.

         10                 In summary, HRA welcomes client-

         11  chosen representatives or advocates in our centers,

         12  welcomes feedback from all New Yorkers, including

         13  advocates, and provides structures through which

         14  advocates have the opportunity to influence Agency

         15  policy and provide guidance on specific cases. As a

         16  result, we feel that Intro. 359 is unnecessary, that

         17  i would do more harm than good for our clients, and

         18  that it would impede the Agency's efforts to carry

         19  out its critical work.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Thank you.

         22                 Mr. Cardieri.

         23                 MR. CARDIERI:  Good morning Public

         24  Advocate Gotbaum, Chair DeBlasio, members of the

         25  General Welfare Committee.
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          2                 I am Joseph Cardieri, General Counsel

          3  at the Administration for Children's Services.

          4                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          5  discuss Introduction 359, a local law in relation to

          6  access to public areas of offices at which the City

          7  administers public benefits programs.

          8                 Children's Services opposes this bill

          9  because it would potentially compromise the safety

         10  of children, disrupt Agency operations, cause

         11  confusion to our clients, and create a use for this

         12  non- public forum not intended by ACS, and

         13  jeopardize client confidentiality by granting access

         14  to any advocacy organization.

         15                 As written, Intro. 359 provides not-

         16  for- profit advocacy organizations with unfettered

         17  access to the public areas of all child care

         18  centers, preventive service programs and foster care

         19  agencies, in addition to the central and child

         20  protective field office sites of Children's

         21  Services.  In total, this bill would grant access to

         22  more than 500 sites administered by/or under

         23  contract with Children's Services, where thousands

         24  of the City's most vulnerable children and families

         25  receive care and services every day.
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          2                 In regards to child care, as the

          3  committee is aware, Children's Services has moved to

          4  a program- based enrollment model over the past year

          5  where families can apply directly for child care on-

          6  site at the center.  Given this enrollment model,

          7  the City and its contractors would be compelled

          8  under this bill to grant access to any individual at

          9  any center who seeks to provide general client

         10  advocacy without any knowledge of their background

         11  or informational expertise.  Such an arrangement

         12  holds the potential to risk child safety by

         13  violating the State law requiring that any volunteer

         14  or individual who provides goods and services to a

         15  child care center be cleared with the State Central

         16  Registry of Child Abuse and Maltreatment, if that

         17  individual has the potential for regular contact

         18  with children, and undergo other background checks

         19  as well.

         20                 While we would also have similar

         21  child safety concerns at our preventive service

         22  offices, foster care and child protective field

         23  offices, additional serious concerns arise about

         24  client confidentiality.

         25                 First, many families seek preventive
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          2  services voluntarily and without the involvement of

          3  Children's Services and are fully entitled to their

          4  confidentiality under the law, and particularly the

          5  advocates lawsuit settlement.  Given the sensitive

          6  nature of seeking a preventive service voluntarily,

          7  Children's Services would be deeply concerned about

          8  a general, non- case- related advocate present at

          9  preventive service providers as situations might

         10  arise that would deter a parent from seeking needed

         11  help.

         12                 Second, an individuals status as a

         13  respondent or subject of a child abuse and neglect

         14  report is also confidential under State law, as is

         15  a child's foster care status.  If a general advocate

         16  or advocates have access to all public areas of our

         17  provider or child protective field offices, there is

         18  no reasonable means for ensuring client

         19  confidentiality or protecting them from unwanted

         20  targeting.

         21                 Moreover, given the complicated

         22  nature of child welfare cases and their extremely

         23  personal nature, it is nearly impossible and

         24  potentially very unhelpful to offer factual, on the-

         25  spot advice, exposing children and families in the
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          2  child welfare system to potentially damaging,

          3  inaccurate, and/or indeed, unwelcome advice.

          4                 Finally, while there are many

          5  effective advocacy organizations who provide

          6  important and needed services, Children's Services

          7  and our contractors cannot be expected to judge a

          8   "legitimate" advocate from an "illegitimate" one.

          9  Therefore, the result can only be wide scale access

         10  or unfettered access, an arrangement that by

         11  definition risks safety and confidentiality, and

         12  runs fully afoul of the recent Federal Court of

         13  Appeals decision in Make the Road by Walking versus

         14  Turner.

         15                 In conclusion, it is important to

         16  note that Children's Services already provides

         17  advocacy options for clients.  Any parent or child

         18  involved in the child welfare system can call our

         19  Parents and Children's Rights Unit, housed in our

         20  Office of Advocacy.  Every child, of course, has a

         21  law guardian that is statutorily required to be on

         22  the case, and each case is periodically and

         23  regularly reviewed by the family courts. Our office

         24  also publishes guides to the child welfare system

         25  that are available in print and on line.  Similarly,
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          2  our Division of Child Care and Head Start has a

          3  process for appeals as well as a front- end quality

          4  control system.  In addition, the State Office of

          5  Children and Family Services administers a fair

          6  hearing process for any child care applicant of

          7  client who requests one.

          8                 For the foregoing reasons, Children's

          9  Services opposed Introduction Number 359.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Thank you, and

         12  Mr. Warren.

         13                 MR. WARREN:  Good morning Public

         14  Advocate Gotbaum, Chairman DeBlasio, members of the

         15  General Welfare Committee.

         16                 I am John Warren, First Deputy

         17  Commissioner of the Department of Housing,

         18  Preservation and Development, HPD.  I have been

         19  asked to testify on Intro. 359, the bill which is

         20  before you today.

         21                 HPD does not support this legislation

         22  for a variety of reasons.  The primary reason is

         23  that the bill compromises client confidentiality.

         24  This bill would allow advocates who don't have an

         25  existing relationship with a client, to enter a city
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          2  agency office, and be available to talk to our

          3  clients.  Not only will these men and women be

          4  entitled to set up tables from their various

          5  organizations with literature, they will be able to

          6  listen in on private conversations.  HPD, as well as

          7  the other city agencies mentioned in the bill

          8  discuss client's personal income and residency

          9  issues.  Allowing non- city agency personnel to sit

         10  in on an intake or other public benefit application

         11  or recertification process, compromises the privacy

         12  of those discussions and the integrity of the

         13  information that the client provides to us.  Various

         14  federal and state laws govern and guide hearings and

         15  other agency interactions with the public, and laws

         16  may have specific provisions about the

         17  confidentiality of the interaction that are in

         18  conflict with this proposed legislation.

         19                 I want to take a minute to explain

         20  our Section 8 program.  Participants are required to

         21  annually recertify their income and family

         22  composition, and we have a dedicated Client Services

         23  Unit staff to assist tenants and landlords during

         24  business hours on a walk- in or by appointment

         25  basis.  HPD also contracts with three community-
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          2  based providers who provide assistance to HPD

          3  Section 8 voucher holders.  Information about these

          4  organizations is provided to HPD's Section 8

          5  clients, and these organizations work with clients

          6  who have requested their assistance.

          7                 When HPD denies assistance to an

          8  applicant or terminates a Section 9 participant, it

          9  is always in writing.  All clients are provided with

         10  a 21- day period during which they can formally

         11  request a hearing, in writing, to challenge a

         12  determination.  They may bring an attorney or other

         13  representative to the hearing, and the tenant is

         14  also given an opportunity to request an interpreter

         15  if the client has limited English proficiency.

         16                 HPD staff and clients who have no

         17  pre- existing relationship with the advocates

         18  according to this legislation. We do not know how

         19  accurately they would assist clients or how well

         20  they understand or could interpret city, state, and

         21  federal rules and regulations.

         22                 HPD continuously trains and monitors

         23  our employees and holds them accountable for

         24  providing clients with accurate and up to date

         25  information.  We would have no ability to monitor
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          2  and correct misstatements made to tenants by non-

          3  employee advocates.  At a minimum, the advice and

          4  perspective of these advocates could create tenant

          5  confusion if that advice is not fully informed by

          6  the complex regulations, which govern our subsidy

          7  programs.

          8                 Two additional concerns are that

          9  these men and women will be situated inside

         10  buildings that house city offices, and even though

         11  the proposed legislation allows the agency to

         12  require distinguishing dress, they may be perceived

         13  as city sponsored authority figures.  While we are

         14  sure that most of the advocates are reliable and

         15  informed individuals, the impression left with a

         16  client that they are city employees who are offering

         17  information or advice to a client could create

         18  confusion or conflict.  HPD has many programs, each

         19  with different rules and personnel.  Any

         20  misinformation that a tenant received could be held

         21  against HPD in a later court proceeding challenging

         22  an agency action, even if the advocates were clearly

         23  identified as non- city employees, because a tenant

         24  may not be able to legitimately understand that the

         25  person giving out the information is not an HPD

                                                            24

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  employee.

          3                 Additionally, the public areas of our

          4  offices have been built to accommodate staff, they

          5  have not been designed to accommodate advocates who

          6  require space for tables and literature.

          7                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          8  express HPD's concerns on this legislation.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Thank you,

         10  Deputy Commissioner Warren.

         11                 Let me say a few things at the

         12  outset.

         13                 First of all, I want to note, in

         14  addition to Council Member Annabel Palma who was

         15  here earlier, Council Member Jessica Lappin also was

         16  here for a while.

         17                 I am going to turn in a moment to the

         18  Public Advocate for an opening statement, and for

         19  her to lead the questioning.

         20                 I do want to say I appreciate each of

         21  your testimony, and I think people who respect each

         22  other can all agree there are some items we have to

         23  look at here, some real issues that you've raised.

         24                 I want to emphasize what I said at

         25  the beginning, and I want to thank the Public
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          2  Advocate who's with us here now for introducing this

          3  legislation because I keep coming back to the

          4  central point that it is difficult to navigate the

          5  government.  It's difficult for me to navigate

          6  government.  I don't know anyone who feels totally

          7  at ease dealing with all the different forms and all

          8  the different rules and specifications, and I think

          9  we have a long way to go to get to the point where

         10  folks who go in for benefits they rightly deserve

         11  really feel confident in what they're doing and

         12  supported in what they are doing, no matter how good

         13  the staff is, no matter how good the training is.

         14                 So while I am respecting some of the

         15  details you've raised, and I think we all do want to

         16  talk them through and work on them, I think the

         17  impetus for the Public Advocate's legislation is

         18  self- evident to me.  The day we feel and we hear

         19  from clients that they are seamlessly accessing

         20  services, that's the day when we can say the Public

         21  Advocate's legislation has no merit, but we are a

         22  long way from that day, and with that again, I want

         23  to thank the Public Advocate.  I think this is

         24  important and needed legislation.  I was proud to

         25  stand with her some months ago when she introduced
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          2  it, and we welcome your statement and then your

          3  questions.

          4                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  Good

          5  morning.  Thank you Chair DeBlasio for allowing this

          6  committee hearing, and to the other members of the

          7  council.

          8                 I also want to thank the Brennan

          9  Center for drafting the bill, and Make the Road by

         10  Walking and the New York City Aides Housing Network

         11  for their work on REAACT.  I also want to thank all

         12  of the advocates here today to support this bill for

         13  everything they do, day in and day out, on behalf of

         14  New York's neediest.  Those of us familiar with what

         15  they do are very, very grateful.

         16                 I am introducing this bill so New

         17  Yorkers will be able to meet with advocates in the

         18  public areas of HRA job centers, and other public

         19  benefit offices, and obtain information, advice, and

         20  representation.  Make no mistake, REAACT will

         21  improve needy New Yorkers access to city services.

         22                 Applying or recertifying for benefits

         23  can be difficult and complicated, especially for

         24  those who do not speak English as their primary

         25  language.  People going through the process don't
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          2  understand what information is required of them, and

          3  don't know their rights when they are wrongly denied

          4  benefits or services.  I've heard from many

          5  frustrated New Yorkers who called our office at

          6  their wit's end because they're struggling to

          7  overcome the bureaucratic obstacles to receive the

          8  benefits that they're entitled to.  Whether you're

          9  applying for a public assistance, facing tenancy

         10  termination proceedings, or just trying to navigate

         11  the city bureaucracy, advocates should be there on

         12  the premises to help you.  It's not unprecedented,

         13  Buffalo, Los Angles, and San Diego all allow

         14  advocates access. In fact, it's not even

         15  unprecedented here in New York City, where for years

         16  advocates were allowed to set up help tables in

         17  benefit centers  The time has come for common sense

         18  to prevail again, allowing advocates to help New

         19  Yorkers in need is the right thing to do.

         20                 I urge you to support this effort to

         21  make government services more accessible to New

         22  Yorkers.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 The Mayor's Commission on Economic

         25  Opportunity recommended that needy families have
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          2  access to work support, such as food stamps and

          3  health care.  Allowing advocates to set up desks in

          4  public assistance offices would be an obvious part

          5  of that effort, why isn't it?

          6                 Anyone of you I guess could answer

          7  that.

          8                 MR. DIAMOND:  We certainly support

          9  access to benefits to help people stay working, but

         10  I don't necessarily see the advocates presence in

         11  the offices as a necessary part of that.  There are

         12  a lot of other people  --  other ways that people

         13  can access advocates to bring them with them when

         14  they apply for benefits, if that is what they would

         15  like to do, and they need assistance.  There's also

         16  people in the office that can help them, and we laid

         17  out a variety of concerns about having people

         18  present in the office in a sort of unstructured way,

         19  which I think would not have a positive effect on

         20  getting people benefits or maintaining a good,

         21  orderly business environment.

         22                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  Well, in

         23  October Commissioner Eggleston testified in front of

         24  this Committee, and she said that HRA has difficulty

         25  in ensuring that eligible applicants get benefits
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          2  because staff, at times, fail to follow policy,

          3  often lack computers needed, and other resources.

          4  So, given her candid recognition of the errors,

          5  shouldn't advocates for New York's needy be allowed

          6  to help where they are needed?

          7                 MR. DIAMOND:  Well, what the

          8  Commissioner was talking about at that point was a

          9  system that she had found when she came into office,

         10  and that she's worked very hard to try and change,

         11  and some of the things she's done to try and change

         12  that is to give greater advocate access to her and

         13  to her senior staff, and to invite advocates into

         14  agency meetings to be able to get feedback from them

         15  about how agency services are working. That kind of

         16  process has happened at a level unprecedented, I

         17  think, in certainly the recent past, and I think

         18  we've made a lot of progress in dealing with some of

         19  the issues that she outlined. There are obviously

         20  still more to go, but again, I don't think that

         21  necessarily having people to be able to roam freely

         22  within the offices, people who are uncredentialed

         23  and unsure what kind of advise they're giving, as

         24  necessarily a solution to the problem.

         25                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  Well, first
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          2  of all we've stated that they would only be in

          3  public areas, and they would most likely be seated

          4  at a desk, so they wouldn't be wondering around the

          5  offices.  What I don't really understand is in Los

          6  Angles and Buffalo and San Diego, they are there,

          7  and do you know of any problems in those areas?

          8                 MR. DIAMOND:  Well, there was an

          9  article just last week in the Los Angles papers

         10  entitled "L.A.'s Food Stamp Scandal" which laid out

         11  accusations by Federal authorities that there were

         12  over $200 million in potential fraud in the food

         13  stamp program, that workers felt that they had to

         14  accept applications at face value that were

         15  presented.

         16                 As a result there were potentially

         17  millions of dollars spent improperly, that the error

         18  rate in Los Angles is well over seven percent,

         19  significantly ahead of the City's effort, that the

         20  enrollment rate for food stamps since 2001 is 11

         21  percent, the City's is 37 percent over that time

         22  period.  So, I do not think that L.A. Presents a

         23  good example of how we should operate.  In fact,

         24  there are a lot of concerns.  I'm not saying it's

         25  because the advocates are present, but I don't think
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          2  you can say that because the advocates are there it

          3  has made the situation better.  It's far worse than

          4  what we have in the City I would say.

          5                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  You feel

          6  that Barry Ensminger who was HRA's General Counsel

          7  in the last few years, when people who were seeking

          8  benefits were allowed to meet with advocates, and he

          9  swore in a deposition that the policy did not cause

         10  any disruptions.

         11                 What has changed since then to make

         12  you think that there would be these disruptions?

         13                 MR. DIAMOND:  First of all the time

         14  the advocates were there, I know one of the issues

         15  that the bill says that were addressed would be

         16  things like error rates and make it easier for

         17  people to apply.  The error rates during the period

         18  you're talking about, when Mr. Ensminger was General

         19  Counsel, we had the highest error rate the City's

         20  ever had, well over 15 percent food stamp error

         21  rate.  Now we're down in the four or five percent

         22  range, and the world of public assistance has

         23  changed significantly since the late 80's.  We have

         24  a much different environment.  We try an use a much

         25  more professional approach to those we are serving.
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          2  We're much more focused on getting people employed.

          3  It's a very different structure to the way the

          4  offices used to run, and I think having good control

          5  over the offices, the message we present, how we

          6  serve people, is very important to our overall

          7  approach of moving people to employment and self

          8  sufficiency.

          9                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  By the way,

         10  I just wanted to make another comment.

         11                 Earlier you mentioned that the

         12  confidentiality issue was something of concern to

         13  you.  Again, I want to stress that this bill calls

         14  for the advocates to be in public places, and I'm

         15  sure you don't discuss client information in public

         16  places.  So, I'm a little confused by that comment.

         17                 MR. DIAMOND:  Well, that came up with

         18  everyone so that maybe they want to raise it, but I

         19  think the concern that we had on that was, you're

         20  right, we recognize that it's confined to public

         21  areas.  But people who are applying for benefits

         22  have a right to, at least, some zone of privacy when

         23  they're sitting in an office, and the bill would

         24  contemplate, or certainly would allow people coming

         25  over to them, asking them to participate in
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          2  questions, asking them various kinds of issues that

          3  they may not want to deal with, perhaps repeatedly

          4  day after day that could happen.  That's something

          5  that people should not have to put up with when

          6  they're in the offices, perhaps at a very vulnerable

          7  time in their lives.

          8                 MR. CARDIERI:  I agree with that,

          9  there is certainly a zone of privacy that has to be

         10  respected. Particularly in the kind of cases that

         11  ACS deals with.

         12                 When a parent is in the field office

         13  today, often by the way, with a parent advocate that

         14  comes from a foster care agency, so somebody who

         15  specifically is designated to help them navigate the

         16  intricacies of the system.  If that parent would

         17  then presented coming in the front door with an

         18  advocacy group coming up to them, I frankly think

         19  that's disruptive.  It does violate their privacy.

         20  There are no guarantees that the parent will feel

         21  secure in their privacy.  They may know the person,

         22  or they may not, but that onus should not be on the

         23  parent to navigate.

         24                 Also, beyond the parent advocates

         25  that are  -- come from the foster care agencies,
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          2  each parent involved in the foster care system with

          3  ACS, has an attorney that's assigned to them by

          4  state statute and regulation from the family court.

          5                 So, there are clearly advocates that

          6  are out there specifically designated to particular

          7  cases that I think help our clients at ACS navigate

          8  the system.

          9                 MR. DIAMOND:  Yes, I would just add

         10  that it would seem unlikely to me that advocates

         11  sitting in an office would just sit behind a table

         12  and answer questions that are asked of them, and not

         13  seek out people that are in the room and try to

         14  engage them in conversation.  That would be the part

         15  I would say.

         16                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  Yes, I

         17  wasn't here when they were allowed, so I don't

         18  really know what happened.  I'm sure some of the

         19  advocates would be able to talk to that.

         20                 The other question that comes to mind

         21  is that, speaking about before, there was never any

         22  problem, and I believe it was in testimony in the

         23  court case, that there was plenty of room for the

         24  advocates, and the lack of space was not an issue.

         25                 Do you want to talk to that?  Have
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          2  things changed, are there  --  has the configuration

          3  of the rooms been changed?

          4                 MR. DIAMOND:  They have at least for

          5  HRA.  I can't obviously speak for any of the other

          6  agencies, but we have more services present in the

          7  offices.  We're try and engage people not just in

          8  eligibility- related discussions but in employment-

          9  related discussions.

         10                 The offices have been reconfigured to

         11  allow for a different type of interviewing at

         12  people's desks using computers, and so that

         13  different kind of configuration  --  we also have

         14  many fewer offices in the peak of welfare.  We had

         15  over 40 offices and another ten employment offices.

         16  Now we have about 30 total combined public

         17  assistance offices.  We have fewer people of public

         18  assistance of course, but there are much more

         19  complex interactions taking place in the offices,

         20  and because of technology and the one- on- one

         21  interviewing that we do, the configuration of the

         22  offices has changed, and so the waiting areas tend

         23  to be smaller, and there is much less maneuvering

         24  room for  --  in the non- public area of the

         25  centers, in the public areas, I'm sorry, of the
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          2  centers.

          3                 MR. CARDIERI:  I mean the foster

          4  care, I can't give you a broad survey of all the

          5  different foster care agencies, preventive service

          6  agencies, but they have, in those that I've visited,

          7  they have a general waiting area that then people

          8  are called in to discuss their cases.  Usually now,

          9  as you know, in a conference mode that involves a

         10  number of different advocates, and supports that are

         11  there for them to talk to their case, and talk to

         12  them about what's coming next, et cetera.

         13                 We believe from the ACS perspective

         14  that there are numerous supports in place, both

         15  within the ACS configuration and from external

         16  sources like the law guardian that's assigned to

         17  protect the interest of the child and the family

         18  court that regularly reviews the cases  --  there

         19  are a number of both internal and external groups

         20  and entities that are charged with helping the

         21  parents determine what their next right course

         22  should be.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  I would first

         24  of all note that we also have received testimony

         25  from the law department in writing which will be
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          2  entered into the record, and I just want to add in

          3  addition to the questions and concerns the Public

          4  Advocate raised.  I just hope we continue to put

          5  this into the prism, or look at this through the

          6  prism of what we are loosing because people are not

          7  accessing their benefits.

          8                 Again, I respect the answers you've

          9  given, and no one is suggesting this is easy subject

         10  matter.  I have a very simple philosophical view of

         11  this.  I fall down on the side of the Public

         12  Advocate's bill because it is worse to have people

         13  go without their benefits in large numbers, and

         14  loose the material impact that has on so many

         15  families in need.  That is a worse problem than the

         16  legitimate problems you raise, and I'm not saying

         17  they're not worthy, and some of them are central and

         18  have to be resolved obviously.  But, I still feel

         19  after five years of us all working together on this

         20  that we haven't cracked the code on a core set of

         21  issues, most notably food stamps but many others.

         22  You could say it is a couple of hundred thousand

         23  people. You could say it's a half million people.

         24  You choose the number who are not getting food

         25  stamps who are eligible, and the Public Advocate has
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          2  done a lot of good work on this issue.

          3                 The bottom line is, I believe that

          4  anything that substantially moves that number

          5  forward would be worth trying, and the idea that

          6  people having facilitation would inherently improve

          7  their ability to navigate the process just makes

          8  common sense to me.

          9                 So, that's a statement, if you care

         10  to, any of you, speak to it, I would welcome it.

         11  But my bottom line is when you haven't been able to

         12  get hundreds of thousands of eligible people through

         13  a process, or to engage a process, isn't there an

         14  argument to try a different and higher level of

         15  facilitation?

         16                 I think that's one of the things the

         17  Public Advocate's bill gets at.

         18                 MR. DIAMOND:  I don't necessarily

         19  accept the premise of your question in a couple of

         20  ways.

         21                 Number one, first of all, we have as

         22  you know, disagreements about the numbers of people

         23  who are not receiving food stamps and the reasons

         24  for that, and we have made tremendous efforts to try

         25  and improve our outreach and to get more people
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          2  enrolled.  But even if that was an issue, and that

          3   --  I don't necessarily see that presence of

          4  advocates roaming in the offices as a solution to

          5  that.

          6                 For example in Los Angles where they

          7  do have the advocates, their food stamp growth has

          8  been less than a third of what the City's has been

          9  over the same period, with also a lot of allegations

         10  of fraud.  Their advocates are able to come in with

         11  people who have issues following the application

         12  process, they do that in significant numbers, which

         13  tells me that the locations are allowing people to

         14  come in, and we think that that is a better

         15  approach.  That people should continue to bring

         16  people with them, whether they are advocates or

         17  family members or other people who can assist them

         18  in the process, and that advocates continue to work

         19  with us to improve the process.

         20                 I think I speak for everybody without

         21  having discussed this ahead of time to say that

         22  we're certainly not anti- advocate.  We believe

         23  advocates have a strong presence and place in the

         24  system.  We welcome their challenge to the way we do

         25  business, and their advice on how we should do it.
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          2  We certainly don't always agree but we recognize

          3  that they have a valuable place to play in the

          4  system.  We just think the appropriate place for

          5  them to play it is to give that advice in structured

          6  meetings with senior agency personnel, and to

          7  accompany people who have difficulties navigating

          8  the process, not in the unstructured way that the

          9  bill lays out.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  I appreciate

         11  your whole answer, and I appreciate we do have some

         12  philosophical differences, although I don't accept

         13  the premise of your not accepting my premise because

         14  I say, at minimum, I think I was careful to say at

         15  minimum, several hundred thousand people  -- enough

         16  people to fill a good size city in a lot of parts of

         17  this country are not getting food stamps who should

         18  be eligible.

         19                 So any way you want to slice it, and

         20  I think I've praised you guys over the years enough

         21  in saying I really do appreciate the progress you've

         22  made, but my job and the Public Advocates job is not

         23  to get paid by public to praise, but also demand

         24  more and better.

         25                 Bottom line to me, I'm glad that you
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          2  welcome individual arrangements, that's great.  I

          3  think it by definition doesn't reach enough people,

          4  and I think by definition that requires a certain

          5  level of capacity, sophistication, good luck,

          6  whatever it may be for someone to make those

          7  arrangements, and for the timing to work, et cetera,

          8  as opposed to professionals who are readily

          9  available, who offer their services if wanted, and

         10  obviously, if not wanted people do not have to take

         11  them up on it.

         12                 So, I just want to put that forward

         13  again.  I am hearing in respect in your answer, but

         14  I do think there's another way to look at it.

         15                 Let me just make a procedural note.

         16  Sometimes I very much agree with this

         17  Administration, and one of those occasions is today

         18  as the Mayor is about to make an announcement on

         19  some additional anti- poverty measures which I

         20  welcome.  I'm actually going to be joining that

         21  gathering in a moment.  It just came up very

         22  suddenly, so I just want to say that my colleague,

         23  Council Member Jessica Lappin has kindly agreed to

         24  take over the chair for a while.  I think Council

         25  Member Tom White will be coming in, and will do so
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          2  as well, and in intervening times the Public

          3  Advocate herself will preside.

          4                 So, we're going to have a little bit

          5  of a group effort here going forward, and I want to

          6  ask the indulgence of the other folks who have come

          7  to testify, I apologize that I have to be absent for

          8  the remainder but we very much appreciate everyone's

          9  testimony.

         10                 In the meantime, I want to turn back

         11  to the Public Advocate who has follow up questions.

         12                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  Yes, I am

         13  just a little bit surprised by your thought that

         14  perhaps it's very easy for many people to hook up

         15  with someone who will give them advise and accompany

         16  them, ie; an advocate.  Many people don't have a

         17  clue about how to find an advocate, and therefore,

         18  they come to the office and they don't have anybody.

         19    I mean, I've seen that myself personally.

         20                 So, I'm somewhat surprised about

         21  that, and I'm also surprised along the same lines

         22  that Mr. DeBlasio is, is that look, those benefits

         23  are out there, they're mostly federal and state

         24  benefits.  Why shouldn't people be getting them if

         25  they're eligible, and I think we should do
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          2  everything we can to make sure that those people who

          3  are eligible get the benefits they deserve. We see

          4  this as a way of making sure that happens.

          5                 MR. DIAMOND:  Well, we don't disagree

          6  that people who are eligible for benefits and

          7  interested receiving them should get them, and we

          8  have over a million people on food stamps, over two

          9  million people on Medicaid, 380,000 people on public

         10  assistance.  They have been able to obtain those

         11  benefits, and we have additional outreach efforts on

         12  Medicaid and on food stamps that we've talked about

         13  at length with the Committee to be able to improve

         14  on those efforts.

         15                 So, no one is disputing the notion

         16  that people who are entitled to the benefits should

         17  be able to receive them.  We have a project that's

         18  beginning this week with people who are talking food

         19  stamps applications, sitting in a soup kitchen in

         20  the Bronx, and that's the beginning of a whole

         21  effort to do even more outreach beyond what we've

         22  done in the past to enroll people for food stamps.

         23                 So, we want to continue those

         24  efforts, but we don't think that having people

         25  roaming freely in the offices, without any regard
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          2  necessarily, to be able to have a quality control on

          3  what they're saying, would necessarily help people

          4  sign up for food stamps.

          5                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  Perhaps we

          6  could work out some of these smaller items in the

          7  bill when we are doing the details of the bill with

          8  you, so that they wouldn't be "roaming around."

          9                 MR. DIAMOND:   Well again, I think

         10  that's one of the difficulties from a constitutional

         11  point of view you have going down this path as the

         12  law department has laid out, and was clear in the

         13  Sanchez case.

         14                 We as the government are not free to

         15  discriminate on the basis of speech.  Once one group

         16  comes in, we have to allow all groups to come in.

         17  There was a court case on whether advocates could be

         18  told to sit behind tables.  The court found that

         19  they couldn't.  They has to be given access to the

         20  public areas.

         21                 So, I think it is very difficult to

         22  set up the kind of structured setting that might

         23  work better, and that's in fact, one of the reasons

         24  why we all have great concerns about the ability of

         25  the government to have a system with advocates
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          2  present in the offices.

          3                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  How did we

          4  handle that before when the advocates were in the

          5  offices?

          6                 MR. DIAMOND:  Well, I think the court

          7  case came near the end of that period.  I am not as

          8  familiar, but again, I think there were problems

          9  when the advocates were present.  The system was

         10  very different, the offices were very different.

         11  The entire message of being on public assistance was

         12  very different. So, I don't think the periods were

         13  comparable.  I don't think anyone wants to go back

         14  to the set up we used to have when we had over a

         15  million people on welfare, when the culture of the

         16  offices was not to work with people to get them

         17  jobs.

         18                 We have a very different message, a

         19  very different urgency to getting people to work,

         20  and having a business setting in the offices is

         21  critical to our success in that area.

         22                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  Well, our

         23  information that many of the people who are applying

         24  for these benefits are already working, they are the

         25  working poor.  So, we can argue back and forth about
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          2  this, but I do think that our intent here is to

          3  really try to get more people signed up for the

          4  benefits that are rightfully theirs.

          5                 MR. DIAMOND:  We're happy to work

          6  with you on ways to do that, but we don't think that

          7  this is one of those.

          8                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  Thank you

          9  very much.

         10                 MR. DIAMOND:  Thank you.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN:  The next

         12  panel will be Laura Abel and David Pedulla from the

         13  Brennan Center for Justice, and Jillynn Stevens from

         14  the Federation of Protestant Welfare Agencies.

         15                 Good morning, please introduce

         16  yourself and begin.

         17                 MR. PEDULLA:  Thank you for having us

         18  this morning, Public Advocate and members of the

         19  General Welfare Committee.

         20                 I am here this morning to speak about

         21  the Ready Access to Assistance Act, also known as

         22  REAACT, or Introduction Number 359.

         23                 My name is David Pedulla, and I am a

         24  Research Associate with the Brennan Center.  I am

         25  here today to ask you to support the REAACT bill in
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          2  light of the commitment that we share to the

          3  principles of opportunity, fairness, compassion, and

          4  accountability, which are the hallmarks of good

          5  government.

          6                 REAACT will enable low- income

          7  families and individuals seeking public benefits,

          8  including food stamps and Medicaid, to obtain the

          9  valuable assistance they need with the application

         10  process from advocates inside of government offices.

         11  This means that more New Yorkers will have access to

         12  the vital work supports and public benefits that

         13  they need.

         14                 REAACT will also play an important

         15  role in advancing the City Council's Food Access

         16  Campaign, "Food Today, Healthy Tomorrow," by

         17  ensuring that all eligible New Yorkers have the

         18  necessary support to obtain critical nutrition

         19  assistance and keep their families healthy.

         20                 Here are some of the specifics of the

         21  bill. REAACT will allow advocates to staff help

         22  desks and provide information to assist low- income

         23  people with questions that arise in the complex

         24  application and recertification processes associated

         25  with receiving public benefits.  Advocates can
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          2  translate documents, provide interpretation, and

          3  ease communication with government officials for New

          4  Yorkers whose primary language is not English.

          5                 Advocates could also clarify program

          6  requirements for individuals who become frustrated

          7  when benefits are denied, they can advise people

          8  about their rights and obligations, and provide

          9  representation in interactions with government

         10  officials.

         11                 Advocates do want the right to offer

         12  assistance in waiting rooms and other public areas,

         13  but certainly do not see asking someone if they want

         14  assistance as a form of harassment.

         15                 In addition, REAACT provides

         16  protections for government officials, agencies and

         17  welfare recipients.  It allows agencies to regulate

         18  the presence of advocates, and to bar tables from

         19  place where they would obstruct traffic.  The bill

         20  also prohibits advocates from soliciting funds, and

         21  it limits access to the staff and volunteers of non-

         22  profit organizations, ensuring that advocates are

         23  truly there to help.

         24                 I also want to remind you that we're

         25  seeking access only to public areas, presumably the
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          2  City manages to maintain confidentiality in its

          3  offices despite the fact that offices are full of

          4  applicants, public benefits recipients, and their

          5  invited advocates and family members.  Those

          6  procedures would suffice to maintain confidentiality

          7  with other advocates present as well.

          8                 We know that allowing advocates into

          9  public benefits offices helps both people seeking

         10  benefits and the government agencies where they

         11  apply.  For years, Buffalo, Los Angles, and San

         12  Diego have all allowed advocates access to public

         13  benefits offices.

         14                 For at least two decades, starting in

         15  the early 1970's, advocates in New York City were

         16  able to have the access that the REAACT bill would

         17  allow.

         18                 Last week, I spoke with Barry

         19  Ensminger, who served as HRA General Counsel from

         20  1990 to 1993.  He spoke positively about his

         21  experience allowing advocates into what were then

         22  called Income Maintenance Centers.  He said, "When

         23  HRA implemented the policy of allowing advocates

         24  access to public benefits offices, we were able to

         25  work out guidelines that allowed advocates to set up
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          2  help desks, and assist people in public areas

          3  without interfering with the functioning of the

          4  Income Maintenance Centers or the privacy of

          5  clients."

          6                 REAACT stands in sharp contrast to

          7  local laws that have been invalidated by the courts

          8  in recent years.  The bill falls squarely within the

          9  Councils' power to further the general welfare, it

         10  would not conflict with any existing state law, and

         11  the state has not indicated an intent to occupy the

         12  field.  On the contrary, the City clearly has

         13  authority to regulate the day to- day operations of

         14  the public benefits offices.  REAACT would not

         15  impinge on any of the Mayor's powers.

         16                 In fact, the Council has passed other

         17  local laws prescribing what materials HRA must post

         18  on its walls, and what information HRA, ACS, DHS and

         19  other agencies must provide to people seeking

         20  benefits.

         21                 Laura Abel, Deputy Director of the

         22  Justice Program at the Brennan Center, has drafted a

         23  legal memo discussing the issues in more detail, and

         24  she is here to answer any questions you may have on

         25  this issue.  Copies of the memo are also available
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          2  for your review.

          3                 Thank you again for this opportunity.

          4    I am happy to answer any questions you may have.

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN:  I do have

          6  some questions, maybe Dr. Stevens should testify,

          7  and then we can ask questions of the panel.

          8                 MS. STEVENS:  Good morning Public

          9  Advocate and members of the General Welfare

         10  Committee.

         11                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         12  testify today regarding Intro. 359, the Ready Access

         13  to Assistance Act.

         14                 My name is Jill Stevens, and I am the

         15  Director of Policy, Advocacy and Research at the

         16  Federation of Protestant Welfare Agencies.

         17                 On behalf of FPWA and also the

         18  Welfare Reform Network, which we sponsor, I want to

         19  testify on strong support of the REAACT bill, which

         20  will grant access to advocates to assist with public

         21  benefits offices in New York City so they can help

         22  applicants navigate a very complex and uninviting

         23  system.

         24                 Families applying for assistance

         25  often find themselves thrown into crisis,
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          2  accompanied by the threat of or actual homelessness,

          3  food insecurity, unemployment and other

          4  destabilizing factors.  Some are struggling with

          5  disabilities, mental health issues and domestic

          6  violence.  When trying to access safety net

          7  supports, many are faced with complex and competing

          8  demands for documentation in a culture that

          9  emphasizes their personal failure to provide for

         10  themselves and their families  --  to simply pull

         11  themselves up by their bootstraps.

         12                 Overworked caseworkers, often just a

         13  paycheck away from assistance themselves, may not

         14  have the training, skills or motivation necessary to

         15  adequately help applicants access the benefits they

         16  are eligible for.

         17                 The REAACT bill provides relief to

         18  both applicants and caseworkers alike by allowing

         19  advocates to set up help desks in public offices to

         20  explain program requirements, and to inform people

         21  of their rights.  We believe this bill will

         22  facilitate, not disrupt, services.

         23                 Administrative delays, difficulty

         24  processing applications due to lack of or incorrect

         25  information, and misunderstandings due to language
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          2  or other barriers often makes it difficult for

          3  individuals to obtain and continue to receive

          4  benefits.  The REAACT bill is an initiative that

          5  allows the City to take action, at no additional

          6  cost, to improve access to benefits and actually

          7  reduce the burden experienced by caseworkers.

          8                 Further, it provides a mechanism that

          9  is entirely voluntary for consumers to participate

         10  in.

         11                 The Deficit Reduction Act of 2006

         12  imposed stricter work requirements for people on

         13  welfare that threaten the State and, by extension

         14  the City, with financial penalties if they fail to

         15  meet work participation requirements.  The REAACT

         16  bill helps assure that as new regulations are put

         17  into effect, there is not a ripple effect that

         18  denies qualified applicants access to the benefits

         19  they desperately need or inappropriate limitations

         20  to education and training or other opportunities for

         21  which they may be eligible.

         22                 There is a cultural issue that is

         23  place in city agencies where there is an`us against

         24  them' atmosphere, and there is also a great power

         25  imbalance between those who can approve eligibility,
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          2  and those who are seeking assistance.

          3                 These are a couple of fragmented

          4  thoughts that are in response to the previous

          5  testimony.  HRA testified that there is an inherent,

          6  or implies that there is an inherent distressed of

          7  advocates, and that is the exact kind of culture

          8  thing I am talking about  --  that mirrors an

          9  inherent distrust faced by consumers in a highly

         10  intimidating environment.

         11                 Obstacles to implementing this bill

         12  are probably going to be there.  I mean it would be

         13  a transition that would have to be made, but if we

         14  all believe philosophically and a client- focused

         15  system delivery of services, those obstacles merely

         16  become technicalities, and if a will exists to

         17  address those technicalities then they can be

         18  overcome.

         19                 This concludes my testimony, thank

         20  you.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN:  Thank

         22  you, and my first question, and I have a number of

         23  committees who are having hearings simultaneously,

         24  so I was in and out, and maybe the Administration

         25  addressed this, but  --  and I think it was Mr.
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          2  Pedulla who mentioned that this policy was in place

          3  until the 90's.

          4                 What was the reason for the policy

          5  change?

          6                 MS. ABEL:  Laura Abel from the

          7  Brennan Center, and I'm not sure I'm the best person

          8  to speak for the Administration on this.

          9                 We were involved in the Make the Road

         10  by Walking lawsuit with the City, in which we sought

         11  access to the welfare offices, and I don't believe

         12  we ever received a reason why it was changed.  We

         13  did extensive discovery trying to find out if

         14  advocates had been disruptive or if there had been

         15  problems with confidentiality, and we didn't come up

         16  with evidence of major problems that caused the

         17  change.

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN:  So it's

         19  not clear, and the Administration testified that

         20  there are translators on site or that there is the

         21  ability to call a service to have translation done,

         22  though that's one of your main reasons for the bill.

         23

         24                 So, could you speak to that if the

         25  translation services that are available are adequate
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          2  or not?

          3                 MR. PEDULLA:  Yes, there are

          4  translation services on some sites, and there is the

          5  call in service.  One thing that we found is there's

          6  an element of cultural translation as well that

          7  comes with having a person there present with

          8  someone who doesn't speak the language, that's able

          9  to provide some sort of support, some sort of

         10  understanding, and give a different level of support

         11  than having someone call into a line on the phone

         12  that's really doing a verbal translation.  There is

         13  someone there in person, they can really assist in

         14  guiding someone through a process and give more of a

         15  framework for the person understanding what's going

         16  on, maybe fill in some gaps that somebody just on a

         17  phone call wouldn't be able to provide.

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN:  That

         19  makes sense, although I guess I am curious to know

         20  if you walked in without an advocate, or you walked

         21  in and refused the help of an advocate because you

         22  felt overwhelmed and confused and didn't speak the

         23  language, would you be able to just dealing one- on-

         24  one with a caseworker, navigate the process through

         25  the translation services that are available?
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          2                 MR. PEDULLA:  Through the current

          3  translation services?

          4                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN:  Yes.

          5                 MR. PEDULLA:  My sense is that it's

          6  highly variable depending on the office and the

          7  situation.  In some situations, I think, and

          8  depending on the level of, kind of, English

          9  understanding that the person has, there's a chance

         10  that it could work, and there's a chance that it

         11  might be very difficult.  I think it's highly

         12  variable.

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN:  Okay, do

         14  you have any questions Madam Public Advocate?

         15                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  Yes, I just

         16  wanted to ask if any of you recall, I guess the

         17  Brennan Center would be more appropriate. I'm not

         18  sure how long you've been where you are, but were

         19  there these sort of roaming advocates all over the

         20  welfare offices or the Income Maintenance Offices

         21  when they were allowed in the  -- I got the sense

         22  from the Administration that this was, sort of, a

         23  hoard of people who were completely out of control,

         24  and one was unable to do anything?

         25                 So, I would like to  --  and then
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          2  maybe some of the other advocates can describe it

          3  also.

          4                 MS. ABEL:  This is something again

          5  that we asked about during the discovery and the

          6  Make the Road by Walking lawsuit, and what we heard

          7  from Barry Ensminger who was HRA's General Counsel

          8  during the last couple of years of this policy, and

          9  was a fan of the policy, what he told us was that,

         10  no, there were no hoards of advocates coming in, and

         11  my sense is from talking to advocates around the

         12  City that there won't be hoards of advocates coming

         13  in either.

         14                 I mean, I think Public Advocate you

         15  mentioned that it's already difficult for

         16  individuals if you want to get an advocate to come

         17  with you to a welfare office it's hard because there

         18  are a lot of welfare  --  people on welfare, and

         19  there are few advocates in the City, and advocates

         20  are busy and they don't have enough funding.  There

         21  will be advocates who would like access.  There will

         22  not be hoards of advocates.  They just don't have

         23  the time or resources to be a hoard.

         24                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  My other

         25  question is, is it true that if advocates were in
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          2  the offices and were not seated behind a desk, that

          3  there wasn't some way that you could kind of

          4  restrict advocates from disturbing  --  it sounds to

          5  me like everybody's nervous that the advocates are

          6  going to come in and jump on the caseworkers, and is

          7  there some way, or is that truly was his legal

          8  response accurate?

          9                 MS. ABEL:  Under my understanding of

         10  the public forum doctrine, which was the

         11  constitutional doctrine discussed in the Make the

         12  Road by Walking versus Turner case, the City can

         13  always place reasonable in its own speech, and it

         14  can always place limits on speech designed to

         15  prevent disruption, and the REAACT bill itself

         16  allows the agencies, in fact, requires the agencies

         17  to promulgate regulations.  So, the agencies could

         18  certainly promulgate a regulation saying,`no

         19  harassment, no approaching people more than once, no

         20  approaching people who appear to be in distress.'

         21                 Anything reasonable I would think

         22  would be upheld by the courts.

         23                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  Thank you.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN:  Thank you

         25  very much.
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          2                 The next panel is Laverne Holley,

          3  from the New York City AIDS Housing Network, and a

          4  representative of Make the Road by Walking.

          5                 Is somebody here from Make the Road

          6  by Walking?

          7                 MS. COOPER:  Good morning, my name is

          8  Shirlene (phonetic) Cooper, and I am the lead

          9  organizer for the New York City AIDS Housing

         10  Network.  I am here to speak in regards to the

         11  REAACT bill.

         12                 I think that this bill will be very

         13  resourceful for a lot of our members.  We take in

         14  complaints by the hundreds on a weekly basis of

         15  people living with HIV and AIDS who are complaining

         16  about caseworkers not knowing their job.

         17                 I also sit on the City Council's

         18  HIV/AIDS Service Administration Advisory Board where

         19  I meet quarterly with the Board, and the Board hands

         20  me a packet stating services that are available for

         21  clients living with HIV and AIDS.  I bring it back

         22  to my organization.  I have my members come in and

         23  say, "We're not getting these benefits."

         24                 What am I supposed to tell them?

         25  What do I take back to the Board?  So, it's sort of
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          2  like a contradiction.

          3                 Also, I myself am a client of the

          4  HIV/AIDS Service Administration, and as I go in and

          5  I speak to my case manager, he tells me, "You're not

          6  allowed to get this, you're not allowed to see this

          7  amount of food stamps."  Time and time again I go,

          8   "Hey, I'm on the Board."  And they told me, Deputy

          9  Commissioner Vernon Eckelstein (phonetic) told me

         10  that this is what my entitlement's were.  I know my

         11  rights as far as Local Law 49 is concerned.  How

         12  come I do not receive these benefits, and I

         13  definitely respect as the gentlemen has said, the

         14  confidentiality act, but I believe that if you need

         15  the help and it's there, and it's free, that

         16  it  --  this bill should be supported.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  So just one

         19  change, this is Yodelly Spidophus' (phonetic) staff

         20  member at Make the Road by Walking. She is going to

         21  present testimony on behalf of a member of Make the

         22  Road by Walking who couldn't be here, she is in the

         23  hospital, named Irania Sanchez.  She's going to

         24  testify in Spanish.  She was able to find a

         25  translation and I believe the members of the
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          2  Committee havea translation in English.  We would be

          3  happy to provide it for anybody else who would like

          4  it, and then I will help translate if you have

          5  questions.

          6                 MS. SPIDOPHUS:  (On behalf of Irania

          7  Sanchez. Spoken in Spanish, typed from testimony in

          8  English.)

          9                 I am Irania Sanchez and my daughters

         10  are named Gabriela and Aylin.  They were born in

         11  Brooklyn, and they are citizens of the United

         12  States.  I was born in Managua, Nicaragua.

         13                 I have lived in the United States for

         14  many years. I have worked since I arrived in this

         15  country, and I have studied.  I arrived in New York

         16  in 1991 in order to be near my grandmother and my

         17  family.  Also, I came with the desire to make

         18  progress and to be somebody important in this

         19  country.  If you were to investigate my record at

         20  all of the jobs that I have held in New York, you

         21  would see that I have left all of my bosses smiling

         22  and very satisfied with my work.  I am a person who

         23  works hard.

         24                 When my marriage broke up, I was left

         25  by myself to care for my daughters.  Then it turned
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          2  out that they both had a variety of bronchial

          3  problems and asthma.  As a result of these

          4  circumstances, I had no alternative but to seek

          5  support from the government to be able to be

          6  available to help my daughters comply with  her

          7  medication regimen.  I had to hook Gabriela up to a

          8  machine to clean her lungs every six hours.

          9                 When I went to the welfare center, it

         10  was very difficult for me to communicate with the

         11  social workers because they only spoke English, and

         12  I speak Spanish.  My little bit of English is not

         13  enough to enable us to understand each other.

         14                 I had many difficulties applying for

         15  benefits. These difficulties affected my little

         16  daughter even more than they affected me.  My social

         17  worker had no interest in giving my daughter

         18  emergency Medicaid even though I brought him two

         19  letters, one from the general practitioner and

         20  another from a lung doctor.  The worker was not at

         21  all helpful and he treated my very badly, saying

         22  insulting things about Hispanic people.  I felt very

         23  badly because of him, and was in a state of

         24  desperation because he was so unconcerned about the

         25  health of my daughter that I cried.
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          2                 Thanks to the help of an organizer

          3  from Make the Road by Walking that I met in the

          4  Center, I was able to resolve my communication

          5  problems, understand my rights and demand what is

          6  required by the laws of this great City.

          7                 As a result, my daughters received

          8  the health insurance and health treatment that they

          9  needed.

         10                 The REAACT bill will ensure that

         11  other mothers and residents of New York will have

         12  access to the support and information that they need

         13  in government offices throughout the city.  This

         14  support is so very important for our communities,

         15  and I hope you will support it.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN:  Thank

         18  you.

         19                 I have a question for Ms. Cooper

         20  because you brought up privacy and confidentiality,

         21  and I know many of those who are infected with HIV

         22  or AIDS are very concerned about maintaining

         23  confidentiality and their privacy.

         24                 So, I wanted to ask in terms of

         25  discussing a case in a public area and your
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          2  situation, if that's something that you think is a

          3  valid concern for the folks that you represent, and

          4  that you advocate for on a regular basis?

          5                 MS. COOPER:  I would say it's

          6  definitely a possibility that one would be concerned

          7  about others knowing that they are HIV/AIDS.  But on

          8  the other hand, I would say that at this time this

          9  is something that I need, and I come to seek out

         10  help from this agency and they have no clue as to

         11  what my needs are.  So, it's either sit there and

         12  have my confidentiality  -- if I have to choose

         13  between my confidentiality being blown, or getting

         14  the needs that I need, I prefer to get the needs

         15  from an advocate organization.

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN:  Okay,

         17  thank you.

         18                 Madam Public Advocate did you want to

         19   --

         20                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  Yes, I just

         21  would like to ask Ms. Cooper also, and actually both

         22  of you  --  when you said that the caseworkers often

         23  didn't understand of know their job, what you meant

         24  by that was they didn't know what rights you could

         25  have, because you had already been told you were
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          2  eligible for X, and they said, "No, you can't have

          3  that."

          4                 Is that what you meant?

          5                 MS. COOPER:  That's absolutely

          6  correct.

          7                 As I said, I sit on the City

          8  Council's HIV/AIDS Service Administration Advisory

          9  Board, I sit right next to HASA housing director,

         10  John Rosello (phonetic).  I sit with Elsie DeCampo

         11  (phonetic) quarterly, and a lot of other people that

         12  are on the Mayor's administration, and they gave me

         13  a booklet stating for people who have mental health

         14  issues, people who have substance abuse issues,

         15  people who are trying to get on Social Security,

         16  people who are trying to get food stamps, and I

         17  bring it back to my organization and then I have

         18  clients come in by the hundreds stating to me, "We

         19  took the same information that you gave us, from the

         20  Advisory Board, into our case managers and they told

         21  us that we were not entitled to this."  We also know

         22  that the Henrietta D. Versus Turner, Local Law 49,

         23  that was put together in 1996, states what the

         24  entitlements are, and so many of the case managers

         25  that I asked allow Local Law 49.  They are clueless
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          2  to even what Local Law 49 is.

          3                 MS. SPIDOPHUS:  (Testimony spoken in

          4  Spanish)

          5                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  So, she

          6  described a number of errors that caseworkers make,

          7  and she said it's particularly difficult when you

          8  can't communicate when you don't speak the same

          9  language, and that caseworkers can get all your

         10  benefits.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN:  Thank you

         12  very much.

         13                 MS. SPIDOPHUS:  Thank you.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN:  The next

         15  panel will be Chris Portelli from Project Fair,

         16  Melissa Beck from LIFT, and is there a

         17  representative here from Citywide Task Force on

         18  Housing Court?

         19                 Please begin.

         20                 MR. PORTELLI:  Good morning, my name

         21  is Christopher Portelli, and I am an attorney and

         22  the Director of Advocacy with Project FAIR.

         23                 Project Fair is a collaborative,

         24  citywide, initiative comprised of the major legal

         25  services providers throughout New York City,
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          2  including the New York Legal Assistance Group, the

          3  Legal Aid Society, Legal Services New York, the

          4  Community Services Society, and others.

          5                 Project FAIR works to secure economic

          6  justice for New Yorkers who receive or apply for

          7  public assistance, food stamps, Medicaid, and other

          8  city benefits.

          9                 Thank you for allowing me to testify

         10  in support of the Ready Access to Assistance Act on

         11  behalf of Project FAIR.

         12                 We enthusiastically endorse this

         13  legislation and look forward to its passage.

         14                 I am here to say that advocates are

         15  on site at some government benefits offices in New

         16  York City, and it is working.  These are offices not

         17  administered by HRA.  Advocates on site contribute

         18  to smoother operations of administrative offices,

         19  and increased satisfaction among consumers of

         20  government services and benefits.

         21                 For five years, Project FAIR has run

         22  a Legal Help Desk staffed by volunteer advocates in

         23  the waiting room at the central fair hearing

         24  location for all five boroughs at 14 Boerum Place in

         25  Brooklyn, with the permission of the New York State
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          2  Office of Temporary and Disability Assistance, or

          3  OTDA.

          4                 During that time, we have served over

          5  6,000 low income and homeless New Yorkers on site.

          6  Each day, between one and three advocates serve an

          7  average of ten clients during the hours of 11:30

          8  a.m. to 2:30 p.m. at the Project FAIR Legal Help

          9  Desk, below a sign which clearly states, "We do not

         10  work for the City or the State."  We are there to

         11  answer their questions, not to ask them questions.

         12                 During these five years, Project FAIR

         13  has developed a successful working relationship with

         14  OTDA staff on site.  As a result, OTDA

         15  enthusiastically supports our presence at the fair

         16  hearing location, citing calmer and better prepared

         17  fair hearing appellants and the reduced need for

         18  OTDA staff to handle complicated issues.  Project

         19  FAIR has become a place to which OTDA staff refer

         20  individuals who need more information and time than

         21  state officials are able to provide.

         22                 For many populations, on site access

         23  to assistance is the only access they have to social

         24  and legal services.  The Project FAIR Legal Help

         25  Desk assists a significant percentage of individuals
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          2  with multiple barriers to traditional modes of

          3  assistance such a physical or mental disabilities,

          4  low literacy, limited English proficiency,

          5  homelessness and extreme levels of poverty, that

          6  make it difficult for them to access, maintain and

          7  manage the benefits and services they receive from

          8  the City and the State.  Having advocates on site

          9  with expertise in various benefits and service areas

         10  allows for prevention of unintentional "churning" of

         11  benefits recipients through the fair hearing

         12  process.

         13                 Individual counseling and center-

         14  based advocacy provided on site through telephone

         15  contact with Job Centers and advocates in the field

         16  often reduces the need for repetitious or numerous

         17  fair hearings on the same issues for each appellant,

         18  over and over again.

         19                 On site advocacy does not interrupt

         20  offices.  On site advocates do not disrupt offices

         21  or cause any interruption in the governments

         22  administration of benefits and services.  By working

         23  within the parameters set by OTDA, and observing the

         24  rules of the waiting room, Project FAIR has never

         25  caused any disruption on site or any interruption of
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          2  services at the fair hearing location.

          3                 In fact through our cooperative

          4  working relationship with OTDA, we have recently

          5  been able to expand services on site, including

          6  phone, fax, e- mail and web access for almost

          7  immediate contact for our clients with legal

          8  referrals, information services, social services and

          9  other services for clients approaching the help

         10  desk.  Through its access to clients on site at the

         11  fair hearing office, Project FAIR has demonstrated

         12  that advocates, state and city agencies can work

         13  together on site to best serve low- income and

         14  homeless New Yorkers.

         15                 Thank you for your consideration.

         16                 MS. BECK:  Good morning, my name is

         17  Melissa Beck, and I am the Executive Director of

         18  LIFT  --  Legal Information for Families Today.

         19                 I want to thank the Public Advocate

         20  and the City Council for giving us this opportunity

         21  to be heard on this important piece of legislation,

         22  Intro. 359, which we support.

         23                 LIFT was established ten years ago to

         24  address many of the same challenges that REAACT is

         25  attempting to address, namely, to provide New
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          2  Yorkers involved in a complex public system access

          3  to information, support, and community- based

          4  referrals.  Indeed, for the past decade LIFT has

          5  helped hundreds of thousands of New Yorkers make

          6  their way through one of our City's most complex

          7  bureaucracies namely, the family courts.

          8                 Today, LIFT remains the only group in

          9  the City operating a total of six education and

         10  information sites within ready available areas of

         11  the family courts, Monday through Friday, nine to

         12  five.  We also manage the City's only legal

         13  information hotline.

         14                 In September, based upon our decade-

         15  long success, LIFT expanded our services into the

         16  criminal courts.  Like our similar origins, our

         17  education and information site model in the courts

         18  is not unlike the vision underlying this Intro. 359.

         19    At the sites, bilingual site coordinators address

         20  New Yorkers questions about family and criminal law,

         21  distribute multi- lingual legal resources, and make

         22  referrals to neighborhood- based social and legal

         23  services.

         24                 LIFT helps families either navigate

         25  the legal system or avoid it, in favor of other
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          2  solutions to their problems in order to promote good

          3  outcomes for children and families.

          4                 As the people who line up, sometimes

          5  for hours, at court metal detectors, and crowded

          6  waiting rooms well know, the courts are overcrowded,

          7  understaffed, move at a snail- like pace and have a

          8  glaring shortage of lawyers.  These attributes are

          9  shared by- and- large by the city agencies

         10  administering public benefits programs.

         11                 In court, the repercussions of this

         12  environment are severe.  The families proceed

         13  through the court with a minimal understand of their

         14  legal rights and responsibilities, and without a

         15  road map to the system lessening the chances that

         16  they will secure a prompt legal response to their

         17  problems.  And of course, the time spent in an

         18  environment where they feel powerless and alienated,

         19  adds to the stress that propelled them into court in

         20  the first place  Stress that can easily erupt into

         21  family crisis.

         22                 So, LIFT's success depends upon its

         23  carrying out of its services in court, not only on

         24  our legal expertise, but on our insistence on

         25  humanizing an environment and a set of topics that
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          2  are practically synonymous with bureaucracy and

          3  impersonality.  By training and inclination, LIFT

          4  staff are down to- earth, friendly, and respectful

          5  in their interactions with family members, and with

          6  the courts within which we operate. Judges and

          7  service providers repeatedly praise the way we

          8  connect with people who are diverse in background,

          9  but united at being at very stressful points in

         10  their lives.

         11                 In turn, LIFT is consistently

         12  impressed by the capacity of those we serve to seize

         13  the information and guidance we give them to meet

         14  and defeat crises, and to take positive action on

         15  behalf of their children.

         16                 But we're also aware that the

         17  negative consequences of uninformed self-

         18  representation and uninformed New Yorkers do not

         19  impact litigants and their families alone, they also

         20  contribute significantly to the inefficient workings

         21  of the family court system, and in the process,

         22  magnify the system's inherent limitations, much like

         23  the limitations that were discussed earlier.  By

         24  creating a more informed, prepared, and responsible

         25  litigant, LIFT extends its impact beyond the

                                                            75

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  individuals we serve and alleviates a substantial

          3  burden on the court system so that it, in turn, can

          4  fulfill its mandate with greater efficiency, saving

          5  numerous public dollars.  The net effect is New

          6  Yorkers enhanced ability to pursue the best

          7  interests of their children, their families, and

          8  ultimately, their communities.

          9                 LIFT's positive impact on the

         10  efficiency of the court system has ensured a strong

         11  partnership with the court administration which I

         12  think speaks directly to the concerns that we have

         13  raised this morning about unchecked information,

         14  advocates roaming around, and an inability to check

         15  what advocates are expressing either in writing or

         16  verbally to those who we all share a goal in

         17  serving.

         18                 In our case, the partnership has been

         19  so strong that we collaborate in projects together,

         20  such as the Family Court Judge for a Day, and our

         21  ongoing effective communication has ensured that we

         22  can reach our common goal, providing access to

         23  justice for all New Yorkers.

         24                 It is against this backdrop that LIFT

         25  supports REAACT.  We have worked with thousands of
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          2  New Yorkers who have benefitted from face- to- face

          3  guidance and support in a vast public system akin to

          4  the City's benefits programs.  We have witnessed how

          5  the strains on the legal system are alleviated when

          6  New Yorkers are given the tools and support they

          7  need to access resources to which they are entitled.

          8    The outcome for all is positive, and LIFT's ten

          9  years of services to the Family and now Criminal

         10  Court proves that all stand to benefit from the

         11  Ready Access to Assistance Act.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 MR. LAMPORT:  Good morning City

         14  Council members and Public Advocate Gotbaum, and

         15  thank you for this opportunity to comment on the

         16  REAACT legislation.

         17                 My name is Joe Lamport and I am the

         18  Assistant Director of the Citywide Task Force on

         19  Housing Court, and with me this morning is Vincent

         20  Villano our Project Coordinator.  We are very glad

         21  to be here to comment on this important legislation.

         22                 About two years ago at a reception in

         23  the Bronx, I had the opportunity to hear one of your

         24  colleagues, Council Member Oliver Koppell, talk

         25  about Housing Court.  He said, "Even after 35 years
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          2  as a practicing attorney, I get nervous going in

          3  front of a judge in a case.  I can't imagine how

          4  someone facing an eviction feels when they have

          5  little or not legal background and so much on the

          6  line; their homes."

          7                 Unfortunately, every day thousands of

          8  New Yorkers are put in that situation.  They are in

          9  the City's Housing Courts, facing the loss of their

         10  homes, and they face a tough fight.  The laws

         11  governing housing in the City are complex, and

         12   "impenetrable thicket," in the words of one appeals

         13  court judge. That judge went on to say that no

         14  attorney could hope to know or understand it all.

         15  On the other side is almost always an attorney with

         16  years of law school and legal practice representing

         17  the landlord.  No reasonable person could consider

         18  this a fair contest.

         19                 So, we at Citywide have a very strong

         20  feeling about what happens to people without

         21  attorneys in Housing Court, or in layman's terms,

         22  you could say advocates.

         23                 Our organization began about 20 years

         24  ago as a direct response to this problem.  Housing

         25  advocates saw how unfair the fight was in housing
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          2  court for people without attorneys.  They knew that

          3  people simply did not know, in easy to- understand

          4  language and in their own language, how the court

          5  worked and what the housing laws said on very simple

          6  matters, like whether you could have a roommate, or

          7  how to ask for something by filing a simple form.

          8  The advocates set up information tables, they've

          9  operated for 20 years without any problems I can say

         10  in full confidence, first in the Bronx and then in

         11  all of the city's housing courts, to provide this

         12  basic, easy- to- understand information.  And they

         13  keep track of some of the abuses in the courts, some

         14  of the judges being dismissive or condescending,

         15  unethical practices of attorneys, difficult

         16  administrative procedures that create an undue

         17  burden to the people in the Housing Court.  Our

         18  organization continues this important work today

         19  thanks to your generous support with a staff of 16,

         20  11 of whom work fulltime.

         21                 We feel the REAACT legislation is

         22  very critical because it would bring this kind of

         23  help to the job centers.

         24                 First, this help is badly needed, and

         25  I think that that's pretty well known.  In addition
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          2  to our information tables the way we know it, is

          3  that we operate a hotline as part of the Emergency

          4  Rent Coalition every day of the week that people can

          5  call when they are seeking help paying back rent.

          6  We get numerous calls where people are encountering

          7  all sort of problems trying to get help at public

          8  assistance office.  These problems obviously have

          9  very serious consequences.

         10                 Allowing advocates to provide

         11  information to people at job centers would greatly

         12  help thousands of New Yorkers.

         13                 First, the laws governing public

         14  assistance are similarly complex compared to housing

         15  law.  Advocates in welfare centers would be able to

         16  provide clear explanations of the welfare system's

         17  complex rules and procedures.

         18                 Second, providing these services in

         19  welfare centers makes eminent good sense.  That's

         20  where people need this type of information and

         21  assistance.

         22                 Third, just as you noted Public

         23  Advocate Gotbaum, how else do people find advocates?

         24    It's not straightforward. The welfare system needs

         25  the kind of feedback that only advocates can
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          2  provide.  Unfortunately, people seeking welfare are

          3  less likely to speak up if they feel the system is

          4  treating them unfairly or improperly, you don't bite

          5  the hand that feeds you. But advocates can do this

          6  very well, and if our experience is any indication,

          7  this feedback has a very positive influence on how

          8  the system works for everybody, the clients, the

          9  housing court personnel, the attorneys and the

         10  judges, and I can repeat what the other testifiers

         11  have said a moment ago that we have an excellent

         12  working relationship with the courts that we work

         13  with, so that we are constantly working together to

         14  made things better because we do have a common goal

         15  in assuring that people have access to justice.

         16                 Another important place where complex

         17  rules are implemented is in the offices of the New

         18  York City Housing Authority.  We respectfully

         19  request that you seriously consider placing an

         20  information table at 250 Broadway, in the offices of

         21  NYCHA, which we would readily staff, to assist the

         22  hundreds of thousands of people living in NYCHA

         23  apartments.

         24                 I want to address a couple of

         25  comments that I heard HRA make that I think bear
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          2  some mentioning.

          3                 They were concerned that advocates

          4  would approach people in the waiting rooms.  I can

          5  say that the level of frustration is so great when

          6  people confront these bureaucracies, that we don't

          7  ever have to approach anybody in Housing Court.  We

          8  have lines in front of our tables.

          9                 As soon as they know there is someone

         10  there who is not going to necessarily judge their

         11  situation, and provide simple answers, the word gets

         12  around very quickly, and we simply cannot see

         13  everybody that comes to try to get  --  obviously we

         14  try.

         15                 Also, there was some concern raised

         16  about the information that some people would start

         17  providing whatever information.  But this is easily

         18  taken care of.  With the courts, we work very

         19  closing to have our information  --  our information

         20  is reviewed.  We have information sheets, there's no

         21  reason for the courts, and I think if they were here

         22  they would say this, to worry about what we tell

         23  clients because they review everything that we place

         24  on our tables, and obviously, we attend many of the

         25  same training sessions.
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          2                 So, thank you very much for the

          3  opportunity to comment, and we hope you will pass

          4  the REAACT legislation.

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN:  Thank

          6  you.

          7                 You were  --  made out your arguments

          8  very well. I don't have any questions.  I am going

          9  to actually turn the hearing over to Council Member

         10  Tom White to chair because I do have to leave.

         11                 So, Council Member White.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Good

         13  morning everyone.

         14                 I understand and I'm calling upon the

         15  Public Advocate Betsy Gotbaum who has a question.

         16                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  I am very

         17  interested in your, not that I wasn't interested in

         18  all of your testimony, but very interested in your

         19  talk about describing the Housing Court situation,

         20  and I'm curious that since there's such an emphasis

         21  in this Administration against homelessness, it

         22  seems to me that your experience in the Housing

         23  Court should be taken as a model for us, not only in

         24  this particular legislation that we're introducing,

         25  but almost all over the City, and I just wondered if

                                                            83

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  you could comment on the ability of your advocates

          3  in the Housing Court to help people avoid

          4  homelessness or at least to stave it off, or at

          5  least to figure something out so that they can move

          6  into some other area of their life.

          7                 MR. LAMPORT:  Well, we think the

          8  information tables actually occupy a very unique

          9  space, not physically.

         10                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  Right.

         11                 MR. LAMPORT:  But there's

         12  overlapping, sort of, jurisdictions.  You have the

         13  courts, you have community organizations outside of

         14  the court with interest in what happens to their

         15  clients, and then you have our information table

         16  bringing  --  and the clients, the actual person in

         17  Housing Court.

         18                 So, we're there to almost like

         19  traffic managers sometimes, like we keep track of

         20  what agencies may be able to help the person in

         21  their zip code, and then we are also aware of what

         22  procedures are necessary to achieve certain outcomes

         23  in Housing Court.  And then obviously, yes we're

         24  very concerned about people's housing, and that they

         25  stay in it because they homeless problem is simply
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          2  out of control.

          3                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  That's

          4  interesting, thank you.

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay,

          6  thank you very much.

          7                 The next panel, I call upon Don

          8  Friedman, Community Service Society, Joel Berg, New

          9  York City Coalition Against Hunger, and Darryl Ng,

         10  GMHC, Gay Men's Health Crisis.

         11                 MR. BERG:  Good morning, I am Joel

         12  Berg, Executive Director of the New York City

         13  Coalition Against Hunger.

         14                 First I want to enthusiastically

         15  thank Madam Public Advocate for your incredible

         16  leadership on hunger and poverty issues, thank

         17  Chairman DeBlasio, and thank all the General Welfare

         18  Committee for your incredible work on this issue.

         19                 The New York City Coalition Against

         20  Hunger strongly supports passage of this bill.

         21                 New York City has made some progress

         22  on access to benefits in the last few years, but all

         23  to often, New Yorkers still face a myriad of

         24  problems in applying for public benefits. The

         25  process is often lengthy, unpleasant, confusing.  It
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          2  reminds me what Thomas Hobbs said, "Life is nasty

          3  Brutus, and short." And we face a Kafaesque array of

          4  really Catch- 22 regulations. Some of it is under

          5  the control of the City or the State.  Some of it is

          6  Federal but the combination often creates a true

          7  nightmare for low- income New Yorkers.

          8                 My favorite example is often the City

          9  will tell people they have to prove they do not have

         10  a bank account.  We all learned in school it's

         11  impossible to prove a negative, and yet the City of

         12  New York often tells you, you must.

         13                 I would hope the City would not see

         14  this as a confrontational process.  I hope they

         15  would see this as a public/private partnership to

         16  increase the efficiency of government agencies in

         17  responding to the needs of low- income New Yorkers,

         18  as they Mayor's Commission on Economic Opportunity

         19  has talked about, many of these benefits promote

         20  long- term economic independence as we've testified

         21  many times.  There's a great deal of evidence that

         22  obtaining food stamps actually helps people leave

         23  other forms of public assistance, and obtain

         24  economic independence.

         25                 So, consistent with what Chairman
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          2  DeBlasio has said, and what Public Advocate Gotbaum

          3  has said, I believe this law is actually  --  this

          4  bill is fully consistent with the Mayor's calls.

          5                 I think you saw today in the

          6  testimony exactly the reason we still need this.

          7  There is, I think it is fair to say, still immense

          8  ambivalence from this Administration about these

          9  benefits.  We heard today that there is support for

         10  increasing the food stamps program and let  --  in

         11  the very next breath, we essentially had food stamps

         12  and Medicaid lumped together with welfare, and sort

         13  of, the assumption that all us advocates, all we

         14  want people to do is go back to the bad old days,

         15  when all get public assistance, and you'd think all

         16  the welfare offices were Fort Apache in those evil,

         17  horrible days.

         18                 Well, most of us, I can speak for

         19  myself, that's not what we want.  We want people to

         20  be empowered to move towards long- term economic

         21  self- sufficiency.  We want people to have long-

         22  term living wage jobs, we also know that public

         23  benefits are often the best avenue of moving towards

         24  there.

         25                 I must say, some of the rhetoric
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          2  again still was disturbing in describing what's

          3  wrong with advocates, and that goodness forbid, we

          4  help people get the benefits to which they are

          5  legally entitled.

          6                 I must respectively suggest that the

          7  comparison to Los Angles was not apt for a number of

          8  reasons.  Number one, is every problem supposedly

          9  faced by the City of Los Angles, was due to the

         10  malfeasance or improper management of government

         11  employees.  If there's a high error rate in the food

         12  stamps program, it's due to government employees.

         13  If there's a failure to catch fraud in the food

         14  stamps program, it's government employees.

         15                 So, I don't know how many advocates

         16  are in offices in Los Angeles, I would guess at

         17  most, dozens compared to thousands of government

         18  employees blaming those dozens of advocates, at

         19  most, for the failures of thousands of government

         20  employees, I would suggest is unfair.  And I must

         21  say we have exceeded Los Angeles in food stamps

         22  growth is  --  could give a misleading impression.

         23  In the previous decade, there was a massive decrease

         24  in food stamps.

         25                 Today, because of that decrease over
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          2  the previous decade, there's still 371,000 fewer

          3  people receiving food stamps today than ten years

          4  ago.  So, saying we've had recent growth is like

          5  saying a forest fire burned down ten trees and we've

          6  planted three, look at that growth.  It's

          7  extraordinarily misleading.

          8                 Let me just respond rapidly to a few

          9  of the issues raised.  Normally I say all the issued

         10  by the other side are sort of crazy and don't make

         11  sense.  I would say they do have a lot of

         12  significant points, but I think there are ways of

         13  working around them.

         14                 First of all, I would say this bill

         15  is important but if many of the other things that we

         16  have been advocating for years, and the Public

         17  Advocate and the Council have been pushing for

         18  years, there will be less need for this bill.  We

         19  want to reduce the number of people who have to go

         20  to office visits, and have to do this in person

         21  rather than over the phone.

         22                 The City does more of that, if the

         23  City allows more people to apply on line, as we've

         24  been working on, you won't have this problem.

         25                 Two, I think all the advocates in the
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          2  world are not substitute for making government work,

          3  and my only ironic caveat is if this bill does

          4  become law, that they then don't use this as a

          5  crutch saying, "Oh, we don't have to make government

          6  work because we have these advocates."  I heard a

          7  little dollop of that when saying, "Oh, we have all

          8  these appeals processes." Well, people already loose

          9  money if they're paid by the hour to go to a city

         10  office to go through the meetings and appointments

         11  just to get their benefits in the first place.  If

         12  you're saying, "Oh, their best way of getting

         13  justice is then leaving work again to go to an

         14  entirely different office, to sit through an appeals

         15  process,"  I would say justice delayed, is justice

         16  denied.

         17                 Many of us were amused I think to

         18  hear the repeated talk that us advocated don't

         19  understand the laws and regulations, and we would be

         20  irresponsible.  I would respectively suggest that if

         21  you would just have a random test, and get 20

         22  employees from our collective organizations, and

         23  then 20 random city caseworkers, and give us a

         24  random test of who knew the rules better, I would

         25  suggest that the advocates would do a lot better. I
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          2  do think there are some reasonable First amendment

          3  issues, I did work for the Federal government for

          4  eight years, and I am very concerned from a

          5  governmental perspective how this would work in

          6  managing their offices.

          7                 For instance, could a vegetarian

          8  rights group come in and have a table and give out

          9  literature, and say, "Boy, you shouldn't use your

         10  food stamps to buy milk or dairy."  That's wrong,

         11  and I do think though, there are ways to set up a

         12  reasonable process to ensure that the advocacy is

         13  focused on getting people benefits  --  on answering

         14  their questions.

         15                 I think you could further formalize

         16  the process in the same way we have legal aid

         17  attorneys.  At courts we could have advocates with

         18  that formal, legal sanction.

         19                 I must say one thing about the

         20  privacy rights. People are sitting there, they

         21  already see their neighbors.  The already see

         22  government employees.  The idea that a handful of

         23  advocates would then scare the bejesus out of

         24  people, that really doesn't strike a reasonable cord

         25  with all of us, after they've gone through all of
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          2  that.

          3                 So just to close, to say we don't

          4  have the hoards as other people have said.  In my

          5  organization, I have six full time employees.  I

          6  mean, you guys have a little more, some of your

          7  organizations.  The idea that there would be these

          8  teaming hoards of advocates making ruckus in all

          9  these offices, is a little preposterous.

         10                 I do think there is a need for a

         11  serious, sustained process, a way to meet some of

         12  these concerns by the City, and I do hope with

         13  continued push from the Council and the Public

         14  Advocate the City will agree to that.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 MR. NG:  Good morning.  My name is

         17  Darryl Ng, I am Director of Public Policy at Gay

         18  Men's Health Crisis.

         19                 I want to thank the City Council and

         20  Public Advocate Gotbaum for this opportunity to

         21  testify.  GMHC is the oldest AIDS organization in

         22  the nation.  Last year, we served more than 15,000

         23  New Yorkers living with HIV and AIDS.  GMHC provides

         24  comprehensive services that include testing,

         25  financial advocacy, meals, legal assistance,
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          2  permanency planning, mental health counseling and

          3  also public education.  I am here today to speak

          4  about our support for the Ready Access to Assistance

          5  Act.

          6                 It is our belief that this

          7  legislation would greatly improve the outcome,

          8  effectiveness and productivity of city- administered

          9  public benefits programs.  By allowing non- for

         10  profit advocates the ability to meet inside

         11  government offices, individuals seeking public

         12  entitlements can get additional help when and where

         13  they need it the most.

         14                 The Act would give community

         15  advocates like GMHC, the right to perform a number

         16  of activities in public areas of offices where the

         17  City administers public benefit programs. Community

         18  advocates would be available to inform people of

         19  their rights and obligations, translating documents,

         20  providing interpretation, and facilitating other

         21  issues.

         22                 In addition, advocates could set up

         23  help desks, help guide clients through the complex

         24  application/recertification processes and when

         25  needed, represent individuals in interactions with
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          2  government officials.

          3                 This  year, GMHC commemorates its

          4  25th year.  From the beginning of the AIDS epidemic,

          5  we witnessed what happens when individuals and

          6  families seeking public benefits and try to work

          7  their way through the system without assistance from

          8  community advocates.  Tragically, they often die

          9  before their benefits or entitlements were enacted.

         10  This was the reason why the City created the

         11  Division of AIDS Services, now called HASA.

         12                 Although much has improved over the

         13  past 25 years, largely due in part to increased

         14  cooperation between City and non- profit agencies,

         15  proper and expedited enrollment into public

         16  entitlements continues to be a life or death

         17  situation for our clients and many disadvantaged New

         18  Yorkers.

         19                 Whether in HASA sites or other public

         20  benefits offices, this bill corrects an on- going

         21  problem.  That is, people seeking benefits often do

         22  not understand what information the government needs

         23  from them, or do they know when or what to do when

         24  government workers wrongly deny them benefits.  A

         25  case in point:  Several years ago, during one of New
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          2  York's harshest winters, HASA was illegally denying

          3  some people with AIDS same day emergency housing.

          4  Because the City did not have this law in practice,

          5  HASA was also allowed to bar community advocates

          6  from entering into the building and informing HASA

          7  clients of their emergency housing rights.  The

          8  results were that many New Yorkers living with AIDS

          9  were illegally turned away from HASA, only to be

         10  informed by AIDS advocates camped outside on the

         11  snowy sidewalks in from of the HASA centers.

         12  Clearly, a situation like this cannot and should not

         13  be allowed to happen again.

         14                 We know that this Act worked, we know

         15  it works in other cities, we know it works in other

         16  facilities in New York, and we know that when they

         17  happen, they actually increase an accountability for

         18  the Administration, and public programs are given in

         19  a much better operational way.

         20                 GMHC supports the Ready Access to

         21  Assistance Act. We see it as a vehicle to further

         22  improve a partnership between the City and not- for-

         23  profit agencies which will ultimately enable New

         24  Yorkers to get the best possible services from their

         25  government.
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          2                 Thank you for your time and

          3  consideration.

          4                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  Good morning, my name

          5  is Don Friedman.  I am a Senior Policy Analyst of

          6  the Community Service Society.

          7                 Just as a second of background.

          8  Before joining the Community Service Society, I was

          9  for a number of years with the Community Food

         10  Resource Center as a Policy Analyst, now a Food

         11  Change, and I was for 20 years before that an

         12  attorney with Legal Services in various offices in

         13  the City.

         14                 I am pleased to testify in support of

         15  Intro. 359. CSS really appreciates the leadership

         16  that you, Madam Public Advocate, have taken in this

         17  arena, and we also applaud the efforts of a number

         18  of advocacy groups, most notably the Brennan Center

         19  and Make the Road by Walking, and we are delighted

         20  to add our voice in support of the bill.

         21                 I want to also note that I am one of

         22  the founders and am currently the board chair of

         23  Project FAIR, since Chris Portelli the Director of

         24  Advocacy of Project FAIR has already testified, I

         25  won't talk a lot about that perspective on this
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          2  except to remind you that Project FAIR runs a table

          3  in the waiting room at the fair hearing, the main

          4  fair hearing site, in Downtown Brooklyn, and I just

          5  wanted to emphasize one particularly relevant point

          6  to this issue today, as it's been developed in

          7  response to the testimony by the government folks.

          8                 That is, I was actually the person

          9  who wrote the letter to the State Office of

         10  Temporary Disability Assistance, asking for the

         11  right to be present  --  for us to have a presence

         12  in the fair hearing waiting room, and to be quite

         13  honest OTDA was somewhat hesitant and cautious about

         14  granting that permission.

         15                 In the five years since, they have

         16  become a strong supporter of our presence there, and

         17  I think this is clearly in recognition of the fact

         18  that we serve the clients, and we also serve in some

         19  ways, I wouldn't say this is an unintended

         20  consequence, but we serve the State because we help

         21  to make the process more efficient, they refer over

         22  to us some of the clients who tend to be more

         23  difficult, and in a variety of ways we help the

         24  process operate, and they recognize that and have

         25  been supportive of us, and have helped us in a
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          2  number of concrete ways.  I think that's an

          3  important counterpoint to particularly Seth

          4  Diamond's concerns about disruption and chaos, and I

          5  do just want to digress a moment from my testimony

          6  to  --  Madam Public Advocate, you raised a couple

          7  of questions for Seth about the past, what had been

          8  the experience with a presence of advocates, and why

          9  had it stopped.

         10                 Just a couple of things,

         11  unfortunately, I have been around long enough to

         12  remember that period, and just a couple of

         13  observations.

         14                 One is that I never heard any

         15  evidence that there was any disruption or problems.

         16                 Number two, you asked why had it

         17  changed, and I believe, I am not 100 percent certain

         18  but I believe that it had something to do with the

         19  change in Mayoral administrations.  That had a lot

         20  to do with that change in attitude towards advocates

         21  having a presence.

         22                 Lastly to the extent that there was

         23  ever a problem, I recall I believe in the 70's,

         24  there was an organization that was in the Center's

         25  that were soliciting dues, and the legislation
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          2  you're specifically  --  prohibits that, so I don't

          3  think that would be problematic.  I was trying to

          4  think, was there ever any evidence of a problem?

          5  That's the only think I could think of, was when

          6  there was a group that was soliciting funds.

          7                 On carefully re- reading the Intro.

          8  359 declaration of legislative findings and intent,

          9  I realize that almost everything I would have had to

         10  say about this has been covered.             So, I

         11  am going to try to be brief, and just add a couple

         12  of thoughts on behalf of the Community Service

         13  Society.

         14                 First, the issue today isn't really

         15  the right to have an authorized representative at

         16  the Centers.  It's been acknowledged by everyone

         17  here that there's a legal right to bring a pre-

         18  authorized representative into the Center.  What

         19  we're talking about now is for advocates without a

         20  particular client to have a presence in the Centers.

         21    I think that getting that right will determine the

         22  right of people applying for or receiving assistance

         23  or all kinds of benefits to have access to skilled,

         24  knowledgeable advocates who are available to assist

         25  them at these sites.
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          2                 I'd like to highlight  --  there's a

          3  number of reasons for this, and you've heard them

          4  discussed here.  So, I would just like to highlight

          5  two of the reasons why I think that on site is

          6  critical.

          7                 First, there's a stark reality that

          8  has to do with the availability of advocates to help

          9  people in need in this City, as well as in the

         10  country.  But focusing on the City, funding for this

         11  type of advocacy has been essentially flat for a

         12  number of years or declined, and the staffing by

         13  those who traditionally do this kind of work has

         14  been flat or declined in large measure across the

         15  City.

         16                 I have two statistics that I think

         17  indirectly reflect this lack of assistance.  I say

         18  indirectly because we can't very explicitly and

         19  specifically pinpoint, but two things that I think

         20  are telling.  In September 2005, the Legal Services

         21  Corporation published a report called "Documenting

         22  the Justice Gap in America, the Current Unmet Civil

         23  Legal Needs of Low- Income Americans."  They

         24  estimated that low- income Americans are unable to

         25  meet approximately, more than 80 percent of their
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          2  legal needs. Now, it's sort of difficult to

          3  calculate how they get to that, but I think it's

          4  indisputable that there are many, many low income

          5  people with needs that we would say  -- for which

          6  they need legal assistance, and they can't get it.

          7  The overwhelming majority of those legal problems go

          8  unaddressed.

          9                 The one other statistic that I wanted

         10  to mention is that in the fair hearing process, the

         11  place where people go when they are having some

         12  trouble with many of these benefits we're talking

         13  about today, roughly between two and five percent of

         14  people who go to hearings are represented.  Between

         15  95 and 98 percent are not represented.  This is a

         16  system that tends to

         17  not  --  the way things are today, people tend not

         18  to have advocates, and when I say represented, I

         19  mean by a lawyer, a paralegal, a community advocate,

         20  maybe even a friend with some experience.   We are

         21  talking about any kind of representation, the

         22  overall majority of people are not represented.  So

         23  that's the reality, is that there's very little

         24  representation and assistance out there for people

         25  in need.
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          2                 Therefore the ability of advocates to

          3  maintain a presence in the benefits offices,

          4  provides an opportunity that is very unlikely

          5  unavailable, very likely unavailable in any other

          6  way to dramatically increase the number of New

          7  Yorkers who are obtaining assistance.  People can

          8  get help to prepare for their appointments, to have

          9  some sense of what kind of information they'll be

         10  asked for, what they may need, documents they may

         11  need to bring, and if advisable, and if appropriate,

         12  they can  --  the advocate might be able to help

         13  have some interaction with the appropriate staff.

         14                 I think this much greater efficiency

         15   --  each of these steps that I just outlined about

         16  getting information, documents, would be likely to

         17  either lead to a rejection of assistance or denial

         18  of assistance, or multiple trips back and forth to

         19  the Center.  If some of that can be avoided, there's

         20  an efficiency that's achieved that I think, again,

         21  is to the benefit of all parties involved.  There's

         22  also a stress involved, a few people have eluded to

         23  that, a stress involved with dealing with government

         24  agencies that advocates present on site may help to

         25  alleviate, in again, constructive ways for all
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          2  involved.

          3                 The one other specific point that I

          4  wanted to emphasize, and then I'll wrap up quickly,

          5  is that not only are there a lot of people without

          6  help in the system who need to negotiate and

          7  navigate these benefit systems, but many of those in

          8  need of help have special problems.

          9                 We know that in the area that I am

         10  most familiar with, the welfare population, there is

         11  a significant percentage --  there are many without

         12  these problems but there are many people who have an

         13  array of what we might call barriers or challenges

         14  to overcome.  They include mental and physical

         15  disabilities, very low literacy levels.  Something

         16  that has been focused on here, very low English

         17  proficiency, low levels of education, substance

         18  abuse, domestic violence problems, all of which make

         19  it much more challenging to negotiate this system.

         20                 In addition, many of those in those

         21  situations are very likely to have significant

         22  difficulties, and this is something that you eluded

         23  to Madam Public Advocate, lining up representation

         24  or assistance.  There's a few steps involved in

         25  lining up assistance.  It involves knowing where
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          2  there are offices, contacting them, getting

          3  appointments, going down there, and then trying to

          4  hopefully line up representation.  Each of those

          5  steps is problematic, and often a person can't

          6  negotiate all of them.  On site presence of

          7  advocates removes many of those difficulties and

          8  provides an opportunity for that person to get some

          9  assistance.

         10                 At the Project FAIR table we try to

         11  give people on site assistance.  If the problem is

         12  too complicated, or if the person's limitations are

         13  too severe, we try to line up representation, and I

         14  would imagine some of those same functions could be

         15  performed by advocates on site at these various

         16  centers.            Let me just close by saying that

         17  there are a number of other factors in support of

         18  this legislation, and I will just mention two of

         19  them very quickly, and they both are integrally

         20  related.

         21                 One is that advocate presence at the

         22  Centers helps advocates understand how the system

         23  works in a way that no other experience can give.

         24  People sitting there day to day, in the center,

         25  learn how that center works, and in a way again,
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          2  that you can't get in any other manner.  That can

          3  help them advise their clients better, it can also

          4  help them and the second factor I mention, it can

          5  also help them monitor the system in a way, again,

          6  that you can't understand how the system works any

          7  other way.  They can both help their clients, the

          8  information they learn can help  --  has a way of

          9  spreading through the advocacy community.  So,

         10  understanding how the center works can help those

         11  few advocates help the many advocates in the

         12  community to better understand how to advocate for

         13  their clients.

         14                 In addition, it can help us

         15  understand how we can advocate to change the system

         16  for the better.  Although sometimes folks in

         17  government may not love the advocacy we do for

         18  change in that way, I think we would all agree that

         19  ultimately the system benefits by that experience.

         20                 I do want to say one last word, which

         21  is that I think that Seth Diamond may have slipped

         22  slightly when he, in asking to compare the current

         23  system with the past system in terms of allowing

         24  advocates to be present.  He said, "We're trying to

         25  give a very different message today."  And in some
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          2  sense what I would add to that, that he was

          3  implicitly saying, although he would not like this

          4  characterization, is that now we're in a system that

          5  tries to discourage people from pursuing benefits

          6  for which they might be eligible and in dire need,

          7  and for that reason if for no other, I commend the

          8  General Welfare Committee and the Public Advocate

          9  for holding these hearings and strongly urge that

         10  you adopt this legislation.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Thank you

         13  very much.

         14                 Madam Advocate.

         15                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  Yes, I have

         16  a couple of questions.

         17                 I am very curious, interested Don, in

         18  your talk about fair hearing and the fair hearing

         19  process, and can you describe a little bit, what is

         20  the greatest impediment at a fair hearing?  How does

         21  it work?

         22                 I actually don't know that but I

         23  think it would interesting as we go through this

         24  discussion to hear.

         25                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  Well to be honest, I
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          2  think the single greatest impediment  --  don't hold

          3  me to that.  One of the greatest problems is simply

          4  that I believe the judges feel that their top

          5  priority is efficiency and speed.

          6                 In some of the litigation involving

          7  fair hearing process, some of the advocates who I am

          8  friendly with listened to hundreds and hundreds

          9  tapes of hearings, and the average time of a hearing

         10  of an unrepresented person was in the vicinity of

         11  three to four minutes.  There is very little time

         12  for any information to come out for much due process

         13  to happen in that kind of time, and I will say that

         14  the greatest concern when the State was deciding

         15  whether to let us have a presence there  --  the

         16  greatest concern was that we would disrupt their

         17  calendar.  Not that we would give mis-information,

         18  not that we would in some ways disrupt  --  well, it

         19  was that we would in some way slow down their

         20  process.  So, I think that's one significant

         21  problem.

         22                 The other thing is simply that people

         23  I have represented don't have a sense  --  you know

         24  like I said, almost everyone there is unrepresented.

         25    They don't have a sense of their rights, and some
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          2  of these areas are very straightforward; you were

          3  sick, can you show that you were sick that date?

          4  But a lot of it has  --  requires some understanding

          5  of pretty complicated legal concepts, and in three

          6  and four minute hearings, you don't get to explore

          7  that.

          8                 So, those are a couple of thoughts

          9  about it.

         10                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  I'm also

         11  curious and I'll ask you, but please answer the

         12  other.  I have never been able to understand that

         13  this sort of feeling or idea, that we shouldn't get

         14  people the benefits that are theirs.  Because first

         15  of all, and I think Joel and I have worked on this

         16  for four years, doesn't the money, the Federal

         17  money, that isn't spent  --  what happens to it?

         18  Doesn't it just go back?  But it certainly isn't

         19  spent in New York City to better the lives of the

         20  individuals and to make the economy better, and I

         21  don't quite get that.

         22                 MR. BERG:  If I weren't me, and I was

         23  the New York Post Editorial Board, those are

         24  essentially the kinds of people making this

         25  argument.  Money, schmoney.  We don't care if it's
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          2  zillions of dollars, that's exactly the wrong-

          3  headed thinking of those left- wingers that any

          4  money from Washington is good money, no matter how

          5  pernicious, no matter how evil it is.

          6                 Now to make that argument, you have

          7  to make the assumption it's an evil, bad thing to

          8  feed your family.   To make that assumption, you

          9  have to disregard every single benefit that wealthy

         10  and middle- class New Yorkers get; paved roads,

         11  running water, police and fire protection, and to

         12  think that only low- income people are the only

         13  people in our entire society who get any benefits at

         14  all from government.  I don't make that assumption

         15  either.

         16                 So, there are ways to make that

         17  argument.  I just thinks it's based on a very

         18  different set of values, and it's not looking at

         19  common sense.  There are Republican, conservative

         20  governors and mayors throughout the country who have

         21  aggressively helped increase food stamps

         22  participation even as they take a very hard line on

         23  TANF or welfare because they understand that food

         24  stamps, Medicaid, child care, other benefits help

         25  promote self- sufficiency.
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          2                 So, when you get beyond hard- core

          3  ideology, if you allow yourself to look at the facts

          4  of the matter, a wide spectrum of political thought,

          5  including some very conservative people have come to

          6  a very practical, common sense solution that if you

          7  want welfare reform to work, and you want people to

          8  move to living wage jobs, they need full support to

          9  do so, and nothing more basic than being able to

         10  feed your family.

         11                 MR. LAMPORT:  I would like to add to

         12  that.  We've shown time and time again that if you

         13  house someone, it's a lot cheaper than emergency

         14  housing, so in that way, I would even say the

         15  government can save a lot of money by giving people

         16  services that they need.

         17                 MR. FRIEDMAN:  If I could just say a

         18  quick other word making a pitch for the TANF

         19  program, for the public assistance programs, at this

         20  point by HRA statistics, the population of people on

         21  HRA, entire adult population is composed of two

         22  groups; people who are unable to engage in work

         23  activities, and I don't think anybody would say we

         24  should deny people who because of disability or

         25  other problems is unable to engage in activities
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          2  that we shouldn't allow them the right to pay rent

          3  and eat.

          4                 The other group is people who are

          5  engaged in activities.  HRA statistics say there is

          6  zero people who are not engaged  --  there is no one

          7  in the system they say, who is not engaged in

          8  activities leading to work, and so that being the

          9  case, I don't think  --  we shouldn't stigmatize

         10  TANF, the public assistance programs, either.

         11                 All these programs are productive for

         12  people meeting their needs, and moving forward in

         13  their lives.

         14                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  Thank you.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Yes, it

         16  centers on the question that was asked by the Public

         17  Advocate.  It appears to me that what I am hearing

         18  is that if there are benefits and resources that are

         19  available to individuals, and they do not have the

         20  knowledge or expertise on how to get them, and they

         21  cannot get the assistance from advocates, then in

         22  fact, and I think you said that the history in terms

         23  of a change of an attitude, I think that what this

         24  legislation calls for and one of the things that

         25  would help is if advocates were at these various
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          2  sites, that it would have a change of attitudes

          3  among even the workers who are disseminating

          4  information to individuals who may or may not the

          5  right question to ask, or the workers themselves

          6  saying  -- not painting a broad brush, but you know,

          7  a few workers who may not feel like giving the right

          8  information at a particular time, and that by the

          9  mere presence of advocates might help change the

         10  attitude for the better for everyone; for the

         11  workers, the administration, as well as those

         12  seeking benefits.

         13                 I would like to ask the gentlemen

         14  there whatever happened to the issue where people

         15  were turned out into the cold with no place to live?

         16                 MR. NG:  Basically, eventually, HASA

         17  got its act together and they actually knew that

         18  that was the procedure and that folks were to get

         19  same day emergency housing, and they did it some of

         20  the times, and then we were out there on the steps

         21  monitoring them every day and they slowly improved

         22  that, but for a period of time there was this period

         23  where we were out on the sidewalk telling people

         24  that the City hasn't caught up with their own

         25  procedures yet because it was the City's procedure
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          2  for one day emergency housing, they just didn't

          3  catch up to their workers yet.

          4                 So, it took like a period of

          5  adjustment of maybe a couple of months, but

          6  eventually the City caught up to its own procedure,

          7  meantime, we were out on the sidewalk informing the

          8  clients of the City's procedure.  During winter it

          9  would have been nice to be inside the building.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay, and

         11  I take it the nutritional expert there, Joel, that

         12  that applied to the food stamps as well, and not

         13  only just to the food stamps, but what I'm

         14  interested in knowing as I think about it is, there

         15  are some stores or vendors who will not take food

         16  stamps, and we're talking about two things.  We're

         17  talking about people who are eligible for food

         18  stamps, and we're talking about people who use the

         19  food stamps with nutritional buying practices that

         20  they may have, that may not be  --  they may not

         21  have access to.

         22                 MR. BERG:  Excellent question

         23  Councilman White. There were a number of big box

         24  stores that sought to come into New York City that

         25  did want to take food stamps, and I can't thank the
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          2  Council enough for your leadership in saying part of

          3  your price of coming into New York is accepting food

          4  stamps. Most vendors now in New York City do take

          5  food stamps because it's in their self- interest.

          6  The biggest entities out there that don't are

          7  farmers markets and the Speaker, and many of you

          8  have made a lot of progress in working with the

          9  Administration to change that.

         10                 I do want to make other point about

         11  how I think this should work.  Sort of, the old

         12  paradigm of us not trusting the government to ever

         13  do its job right, and them now trusting the

         14  advocates to ever be fair, and sort of, advocates

         15  sort of paratrooped (sic) into a hostile

         16  environment.

         17                 I think the model Don and others

         18  developed with OTDA is a much better model.  That we

         19  really work together as partners.  I would suggest

         20  that HRA staff and advocates receive often the same

         21  training, and actually get trained together, get the

         22  updated policy bulletins together, and that we are

         23  seen as facilitator's rather than an antagonist.

         24  That takes a little mindset change from our side,

         25  and a big mindset change from the other side, but I
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          2  would suggest that would be a much more productive

          3  way of doing this, than some of sort of the attitude

          4  you have heard a little lingering today that we're

          5  just there to get people welfare, willey- nilley, we

          6  don't care about the rules, we don't care about

          7  fraud, we don't care about economic independence,

          8  that we're really in this together, that all our

          9  joint concern is making government work better, and

         10  moving more people towards economic independence

         11  whether that includes getting TANF, whether that

         12  includes leaving TANF, whatever it means with the

         13  food stamps program to increase their nutrition.   I

         14  have said it before in this Chamber, I'll say it a

         15  zillion times; people who are not well fed cannot

         16  focus on gaining and keeping employment.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  I agree.

         18                 Are there any more questions?

         19                 Okay, thank you gentlemen.

         20                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  Thank you

         21  very much.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  We have

         23  three individuals that I'm going to ask to come up

         24  and sit as a panel, but will speak in order in which

         25  you have arrived, and only you would know that.
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          2                 I have Sonia Cole, Beatrice Hudgins-

          3  Middleton, Estella Munez.

          4                 If I mispronounced your name, I

          5  apologize.  Okay we'll start from my left, which is

          6  your right.  State your name, please.

          7                 MS. MUNEZ:  My name is Estella Munez,

          8  and I am from Honduras, and I have been living in

          9  the United States for 20 years.

         10                 My experience is that on November 14

         11  of 2005, about 10 a.m. I received a phone call to my

         12  work from the housing management where I was living.

         13    They informed me that there was  --  that she had

         14  such bad news to give to me, and I asked her what

         15  the problem was, and she said there was a fire and

         16  that I had to go.  So I left my work, and I went

         17  back.  By the time I got there the fire was over

         18  already, and I found out that all my belongings was

         19  gone.  I lost everything that I had in that

         20  apartment for 15 years.  At that time, my journey

         21  begins.

         22                 The Red Cross left the notes for me

         23  to contact them.  I did that.  When I got to the Red

         24  Cross office, they told me because that was a New

         25  York City housing, it was against their policy to
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          2  help me but they were going to provide me one night

          3  of hotel with my kids.  It happened, I went to the

          4  hotel, by the next day I was out from the hotel.

          5                 I went back to the management, I

          6  spoke to the manager, he told me that Red Cross was

          7  supposed to help me, that that was the reason they

          8  receive all the donations that they receive, and

          9  therefore, they had to help me.  I left his office

         10  with my kids crying because I did not know what to

         11  do right then.

         12                 I went to HPD, and the person who

         13  interviewed me there she put the address in the

         14  computer for some reason she told me that that

         15  building was not New York City housing, the building

         16  belonged to a single owner.  She even gave me the

         17  address where the owner was located to go look for

         18  him, and I told her, "It can't be, I have been

         19  living in that building for 15 years, and I believe

         20  and I see in the paper saying New York City

         21  housing."

         22                 So, the HPD closed the door on my one

         23  more time, and I went to 250 Broadway, I think I

         24  went to two or three floors there seeking help.

         25  They said  --  they told me that I had to go to
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          2  125th.  I went to 125th, and they said, "No, you

          3  have to go to HPD again."  I went to back to HPD,

          4  from there they sent me to a New York City Housing

          5  office located somewhere on Lexington, to make it

          6  short, nobody, not HPD, neither New York City

          7  Housing was there to help me.

          8                 I went to apply for welfare.  I

          9  remember the social worker who took my case, she

         10  asked me how many members was in my family.  I said,

         11   "My daughters and me."  "And are you working?"  I

         12  said, "Yes, I am working, but as of now, I haven't

         13  been able to go back to work.  I don't have no

         14  clothes, no money, no place to stay."  She asked me

         15  for my documentation.  I said I lost everything.  I

         16  didn't have nothing with me when I left the building

         17  that day to go to work.

         18                 Luckily, from a Section 8 office,

         19  they provided copies of my documentation; my kids

         20  birth certificates, social security, and my alien

         21  cards.  I gave that to them.  In front of me she

         22  called somebody else to come down.  The lady came,

         23  she said, "Can you verify if this is legal

         24  documentation?"  She went some place in the office

         25  to verify that was legal documentation, she came
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          2  back and said, "Yes."

          3                 Still, she gave me a list to come

          4  back with the original social security cards, birth

          5  certificate and immigration paper to show them that

          6  I was legal in this country, which I found horrible

          7  decision from a welfare office because one thing

          8  that she was, I believe that she was supposed to ask

          9  me was proof from the fire department or fire place

         10  if I really had a fire. She never asked that

         11  question, but she was interested to see the original

         12  paper that I had, the birth certificates, social

         13  security card, and immigration paper.  And there was

         14  a phone number that she provided to me saying that

         15  in ten days if you don't find those papers, call

         16  back.

         17            Every time I called the phone, there was a

         18  message saying it's full, there's no space more to

         19  leave message.  They never answered the phone, and

         20  when I go to the office they say, "If you don't have

         21  an appointment, you cannot see the social worker."

         22                 So, I didn't know how to communicate

         23  with her.  I didn't know how to let her know that I

         24  was not able to find the papers she asked me for.  I

         25  didn't know how to tell her that I was still in need
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          2  with my kids.

          3                 Luckily, I managed by April of this

          4  year, 2006, I found an apartment on my own.  Again,

          5  one more time, I went back to the welfare because I

          6  was told by Red Cross that they can help me with the

          7  down payment, the first payment, for the rent, and

          8  the furniture.  Up until now, they never answer or

          9  they never tell my what happened to my application.

         10                 So, I am in favor of the public

         11  advocacy to be proud of those aliens or to step in

         12  and advocate for the citizens of New York's behalf.

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  So when

         14  are you now? Did you loose your job?

         15                 MS. MUNEZ:  I did not loose my job

         16  but still I am going through a lot of harassment on

         17  my job because I missed a lot of days of work, and

         18  due to that, immediately I was changed from one unit

         19  to the next units at my work.  When I take off for

         20  my kids sickness, right away my oldest daughter

         21  suffers from asthma.  So, I have to provide them

         22  with all kinds of documentation to prove them what

         23  is the reason I that I am missing a day of work.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  So you

         25  found housing?
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          2                 MS. MUNEZ:  I found an apartment, not

          3  housing because the management of New York City

          4  housing where I was living, first of all one thing I

          5  never understand, the door was padlocked but I was

          6  never handed the keys to get in.  He was telling me

          7  that because of safety issues and I tried to believe

          8  him that that was safety issues, and plus the fire

          9  people has to do their investigation to find out

         10  what happened exactly.  I backed off, I let him have

         11  the key.

         12                 While that was happening, the things

         13  that I didn't want, they were still in it.  I lost

         14  everything that I had, you know, whatever was

         15  salvaged there, they stole it.  When they finally

         16  gave me the key, everything was gone, and I said,

         17   "What am I supposed to do here?"  There's nothing

         18  to pick up from here.              So, I went and

         19  found an apartment in a two- family house in the

         20  Bronx.  The apartment is $1,300 every month.  I have

         21  to just turn around and look at my kids because

         22  there is no way where I'm going to get it from to

         23  give it to them.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay, what

         25  was the amount of rent you are paying now?
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          2                 MS. MUNEZ:  Now it's $1,300.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Thirteen

          4  hundred?

          5                 MS. MUNEZ:  Yes.

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  For how

          7  many rooms?

          8                 MS. MUNEZ:  Two bedroom.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Two

         10  bedroom in a private home?

         11                 MS. MUNEZ:  Private home, no heat.

         12  The coolest day of this year, I think it was

         13  December the 8th if I am not mistaken, it was no

         14  heat all night or all day in that apartment.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  So what

         16  benefits have you applied for?  Are you still

         17  applying for benefits?

         18                 MS. MUNEZ:  Actually as of now, I

         19  don't know if I have to apply or not because I did

         20  apply for food stamps.  I applied for help to get

         21  into another apartment with the City, and I applied

         22  for assistance to assist me with the rent.

         23                 None of this was given to me.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  And how

         25  long ago was that?
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          2                 MS. MUNEZ:  The last application I

          3  submitted was on September 15 of this year.

          4                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay,

          5  perhaps

          6  you'll  -- I'm not putting you on the spot Public

          7  Advocate, but perhaps you can write a letter to the

          8  Public Advocates Office and she can respond to see

          9  about some follow up.

         10                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  We can do

         11  better than that.

         12                 You can call the office, and if you

         13  have a pen, I'll give you the number, and we'll try

         14  to help you.  I don't know if you've called us

         15  already and --

         16                 MS. MUNEZ:  Yes.

         17                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  You have

         18  called, and what happened?

         19                 MS. MUNEZ:  Not only did I call but I

         20  went personally because I work next door from the

         21  office.

         22                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  Yes.

         23                 MS. MUNEZ:  I went there personally,

         24  I brought my case.

         25                 They designated a worker who dealt
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          2  with the New York City housing issues, and they--

          3                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  Jessica.

          4                 MS. MUNEZ:  Jessica Burgoes

          5  (phonetic).

          6                 MS. COOPER:  Jessica Burgoes, she's

          7  very, very, very good.

          8                 MS. MUNEZ:  Yes, and I was designated

          9  another worker who dealt with the welfare situation.

         10    I had an answer from Jessica Burgoes, but the

         11  other lady, I had never got an answer from her but

         12  when I finally find out how to reach her, I reached

         13  her, she told me that her personally called to the

         14  welfare office  --  the answer she got, my case was

         15  denied because I am working.  I told her could she

         16  please send me a letter at least.

         17                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  Now, did

         18  Jessica tell you that?

         19                 MS. MUNEZ:  No, no, the next lady who

         20  dealt with the welfare issues.

         21                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  Do you know

         22  who that was?

         23                 MS. MUNEZ:  I don't remember her

         24  name.

         25                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  How about
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          2  Heather, does that sound right?

          3                 MS. MUNEZ:  I think Heather, yes.

          4                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  Well okay,

          5  we'll follow up.  Why don't we get your name and--

          6                 MS. MUNEZ:  The issue with Jessica

          7   --  she wrote a letter to Mr. Tino Hernandez.

          8                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  Hernandez,

          9  yes.

         10                 MS. MUNEZ:  He referred the letter

         11  back to somebody from the New York City housing

         12  located on Lexington, and she answered back saying

         13  that I failed to present for appointment for them to

         14  relocate me to a new apartment.

         15                 First of all, the fire happened

         16  November the 14th, the same evening one of my

         17  daughters got sick.  I ended up in Jacobi Hospital

         18  in the Bronx.  There is documentation to prove that.

         19

         20                 Next day, which was November the

         21  15th, from the Jacobi Hospital I had to take my

         22  daughter back to her doctor in Manhattan.

         23                 On the 16th, I went back to the

         24  Jacobi Hospital because there was some

         25  misunderstanding with her medication.  I went over
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          2  the medication she was given, it was affecting her,

          3  and so I don't remember management giving me

          4  appointment to meet with them, and I don't remember

          5  receiving any phone call because the only phone that

          6  I had was my cell phone.  After the fire the charger

          7  to the phone got burned, there was no way for me to

          8  use the phone without the battery.

          9                 So, that was the excuse they gave to

         10  Jessica that I failed to present.  So I don't know

         11  how they reached me to give me the appointment, or I

         12  don't know when that appointment was set up.

         13                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  Okay, what

         14  I'll do is I'll talk to Jessica and we'll try to

         15  follow up, and you should come back again because

         16  those two workers are very, very good at what they

         17  do.  They are very efficient, and they try their

         18  hardest.  There must be some  --  I don't know

         19  what's going on but we will definitely try to help

         20  you.

         21                 MS. MUNEZ:  I know they said some

         22  issue in the answer that New York City housing gave

         23  it to her.

         24                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  Okay.

         25                 MS. MUNEZ:  Unfortunately, I am not
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          2  saying they are a liar, but it's a lie because they

          3  never reached back to me.

          4                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay,

          5  thank you very much.

          6                 Let me see, Council Member Brewer has

          7  a question.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I just want

          9  to say, Mr. Acting Chair, that we've just been at a

         10  press conference with the Mayor talking about ways

         11  to ensure that people who are working don't end up

         12  with less money than those who aren't working.

         13                 The idea is when you work you're

         14  supposed to be able to save and move up, and so on.

         15  I think this is a great hearing to be coterminous

         16  because that is a very hard aspect of life to pay

         17  enough  --  to pay rent, to have health insurance,

         18  to be able to save, and to be able to care for your

         19  family, and still put something away for the future.

         20

         21                 That was just one aspect of what the

         22  Mayor said, but we were standing there and I'm

         23  thinking to myself,`this is a lot easier said than

         24  done.'  Supposedly there is a new office to do that.

         25                 So, I just want to thank the people
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          2  who are testifying because you're an example of the

          3  challenge, but one that we should be meeting.

          4                 So, I just wanted to say thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Mr. Acting

          6  Chair, I'd be happy to take back the Chair with deep

          7  appreciation for your fine work, and thank you for

          8  filling in while we were at the Mayor's press

          9  conference, and I believe these two individuals have

         10  not yet spoken, is that right?

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Right.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  We welcome

         13  testimony now from Beatrice Hudgins- Middleton, and

         14  from Sonia Cole.

         15                 MS. HUDGINS- MIDDLETON:  Good

         16  afternoon, my name is Beatrice Hudgins- Middleton,

         17  and I support Intro. 359.

         18                 My situation is related to ACS.  I

         19  listened to ACS, there is a case pending against me.

         20    This is a case that's been going on for two years.

         21    There has not been a finding of neglect on my

         22  part, even though my children have been removed from

         23  me now for 18 months which the courts now are

         24  required to review the foster care status of my

         25  children.
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          2                 ACS sat here and testified that they

          3  have all this advocacy there.  Well, I have yet to

          4  see that.  The attorneys that they do provide to the

          5  respondents, the respondent parents, which I am, a

          6  lot of times they don't know anything about their

          7  educational issues.  I have had to go and look up

          8  case law after case law to supply to many of the

          9  attorneys who have represented me on this case.

         10                 Currently right now, we are scheduled

         11  to go in for mediation since we can't do anything in

         12  the courts because there hasn't been a finding, not

         13  even a fact finding hearing has commenced where ACS

         14  has presented their case and called for witnesses.

         15  I haven't been allowed to testify and submit my

         16  evidence which would refute that whole petition.

         17  The petition against me alleges educational neglect,

         18  which cannot be proven because of the test scores

         19  that I have submitted to the courts.

         20                 There were allegations that I had

         21  inflicted excessive corporal punishment on my son,

         22  and I have pictures of his back which shows that

         23  this child has absolutely no markings on his back,

         24  and this is evidence that is known to the Queens

         25  Family Court.
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          2                 The other allegation was something

          3  about refusing to allow my child to go out for fear

          4  she would become pregnant. My daughter is just 11-

          5  years- old, she is a virgin.  I have also pictures

          6  which shows that this child is actually outside

          7  standing next to a boy--

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Ma'am, I'm

          9  going to interrupt, and please forgive me.

         10                 MS. HUDGINS-MIDDLETON:  Sure.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  I want to just

         12  ask that you keep the  --  public testimony we

         13  usually have a time limit on, so I just want to ask

         14  you to keep the testimony about this bill

         15  specifically.

         16                 MS. HUDGINS-MIDDLETON:  Okay, well

         17  this bill, I support this bill because we

         18  desperately need to have advocates available at the

         19  ACS headquarters to help the parents to navigate the

         20  system.

         21                 Thank you very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Thank you very

         23  much for your testimony.

         24                 Now, Ms. Cole.

         25                 MS. COLE:  Yes, good afternoon.  I'm
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          2  not sure who actually did send me this letter for

          3  this meeting, but I am thankful they actually did

          4  because I have made several average 311 calls, and

          5  I'm not sure pretty much if this is the reason why

          6  my letter came about this meeting.

          7                 As for me, I can understand what

          8  these people are going through because I lost my

          9  house and children to predatory lending.  It cost

         10  cause segregation throughout five years as I

         11  continue to fight these average violations against

         12  us on the bankruptcy.

         13                 I must say, the court system is blind

         14  sometime with the law and laws do destroy people's

         15  lives when it's malicious and intentional, also

         16  against family and kids because I'm a recipient with

         17  Pa. Where I do suffer several disabilities along

         18  with my kids, and just recently again I recall

         19  getting back my child in 2005, she's here with me.

         20  The judge in family court did say to me so many

         21  resources, so few help, and I wanted very much to

         22  say something but I said, "Let me rest my peace."

         23  Because Tara did have a lawyer and the lawyer did

         24  say, "Don't let my husband look like he's not the

         25  bad party" because we was coming from domestic
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          2  violence where more so ACS seemingly do target

          3  people on the domestic violence, and I myself

          4  remember truly being targeted under an ACS

          5  caseworker.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Ma'am, I'm

          7  going to interrupt and I apologize also to you,

          8  again, we need to hear your testimony about this

          9  bill, so if you--

         10                 MS. COLE:  I think this bill would do

         11  the average family in New York City a thousand

         12  percent more justice because the system did fail me,

         13  and many other family with many social injustice up

         14  to this day.

         15                 I myself was at a fair hearing just

         16  now, and when I did ask them if pretty much this

         17  meeting was about to start at 10 o'clock, I remember

         18  getting out of my sleep from 3 a.m. this morning

         19  just to make sure that I would be at this meeting on

         20  time.  The subway stalled on the tracks somewhat.  I

         21  reach at the fair hearing which my appointment there

         22  was 9 this morning.  I wasn't called until around

         23  after 10, but thank God I did make it in where the

         24  meeting was still going on.

         25                 I do think this bill is really needed
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          2  because I, myself, was steamrolled through the court

          3  system.  I have been in many courts up to this

          4  present date trying to get justice with 15 or more

          5  lawsuits from the district court to the circuit

          6  court.  I remember the bankruptcy judge telling me

          7  bankruptcy is not for anyone, anywhere, anytime--

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Ma'am, again I

          9  apologize but we --

         10                 MS. COLE:  And my kids did suffer

         11  from lead poisoning, so ACS really needs to look at

         12  people's evidence and family court more than

         13  ignoring the facts because this is why so many

         14  families get misplaced on the housing and all

         15  others.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Okay, I

         17  appreciate your testimony.  Again, we usually have a

         18  two minute limit for each public testimony and we

         19  appreciate your testimony, and I am hearing from all

         20  of the members of this panel that they do support

         21  this legislation, and I appreciate that.

         22                 So, I'd like to conclude the hearing

         23  by once

         24  again  --  oh, I'm sorry we also have the Department

         25  of Homeless Services, the City Department of
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          2  Homeless Services, has submitted testimony, written

          3  testimony for the record, that will go into the

          4  public record.

          5                 I'd like to once again thank Council

          6  Member White for having Chaired the hearing.

          7                 I'd like to thank especially the

          8  Public Advocate for introducing this important

          9  legislation, and all the work she's done.

         10                 I'd like to thank her staff and of

         11  course, the staff of the General Welfare Committee

         12  for all the work they did in putting this hearing

         13  together.

         14                 I would like to wish everyone a very,

         15  very happy holidays and we look forward to working

         16  together in 2007.

         17                 This hearing of the General Welfare

         18  Committee is now adjourned.

         19                 (Hearing adjourned at 12:39 p.m.)

         20

         21                 (Written testimony read into the

         22  record.)

         23

         24  Jeffrey D. Friedlander

         25  First Assistant Corporation Counsel
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          2  New York City Law Department

          3

          4

          5  Haeda Mihaltses

          6  Director, Mayor's Office of Governmental Affairs

          7

          8  Re: Int. NO. 359, relating to access to the public

          9  areas of offices at which the City administers

         10  public benefits programs.

         11

         12                 Dear Ms. Mihaltses:

         13                 You have asked this office to review

         14  Int. No. 359, which is under consideration by the

         15  City Council's Committee on General Welfare.  This

         16  measure would require any City agency that

         17  administers a public benefits program, and any City

         18  contractor that assists in the administration of

         19  public benefits program to allow certain defined

         20   "advocates" access to public areas at the offices

         21  at which public benefits claimants are served.  The

         22  bill further provides that advocates will be allowed

         23  to freely talk with and distribute literature to

         24  claimants, walk around public areas, and set up

         25  tables therein.
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          2                 The bill appears to be an attempt, in

          3  part, to reverse a recent decision by the U.S. Court

          4  of Appeals for the Second Circuit, Make the Road by

          5  Walking, Inc. Versus Turner, 378 F.3d 133 (2d Cir.

          6  2004), which upheld HRA's policy of restricting

          7  access to the public areas of its Job Centers to

          8  those on official business, which includes advocates

          9  or other persons that have been specifically

         10  retained by a claimant.  In holding that HRA's

         11  policy was reasonable in furtherance of protecting

         12  the best interests of claimants, the Court made the

         13  following observations:

         14                 HRA's policy "ensured the success of

         15  HRA's legitimate goals by limiting disruption in

         16  general, and especially disruption from the

         17  perceived endorsement by HRA" of the advice given by

         18  advocates granted entry to HRA's waiting areas. Id.

         19  At 149.  More importantly, the Court observed that

         20  if "untrained or minimally trained advocates advise

         21  claimants on the spot and without prior knowledge of

         22  their cases, misinformation with a disruptive effect

         23  may be disseminated."  Id.  Indeed, the Court noted

         24  that in the late 1970's and early 1980's when HRA

         25  had allowed greater access to its facilities, many
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          2  claimants received incorrect information from on-

          3  premises advocates and some disappointed claimants

          4  became abusive to HRA employees.  See id.

          5                 If advocates were freely allowed

          6  inside HRA's facilities, "claimants themselves may

          7  also be disturbed by the presence of advocacy

          8  organizations, and might feel pressured to talk to

          9  advocates, read their literature, or join their

         10  organizations."  Id.  Some claimants may wish

         11  privacy and others may find it difficult to walk

         12  away from intrusive advocates.  The Court further

         13  stated that claimants could be "taken advantage of

         14  by unscrupulous organizations that posed as

         15  legitimate advocacy groups."  Id.

         16                 An open access policy would lead to

         17  increased processing and supervision costs.

         18  Specifically, HRA would have to develop a mechanism

         19  to schedule all advocacy groups seeking access if

         20  there is insufficient room in public areas.  This

         21  would have to be done in a manner that does not

         22  discriminate based on viewpoint in violation of the

         23  First Amendment.  Moreover, HRA would have to expend

         24  resources policing its waiting rooms to ensure that

         25  advocacy organizations are complying with scheduled
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          2  access times and not engaging in unapproved

          3  activities.  See id. At 150.

          4                 By its terms, Int. No. 359 would

          5  apply to numerous City agencies in addition to HRA

          6  and their contractors.  Some of these agencies may

          7  have specific reasons, beyond those recognized by

          8  the Court, for policies limiting access to public

          9  areas to those on official business.  For example,

         10  allowing advocates access to public areas will

         11  compromise agencies' ability to maintain legally-

         12  mandated confidentiality as to the identity and

         13  other information relating to persons they serve.

         14  Indeed, the very broad scope of the bill raises

         15  numerous policy and legal questions that are best

         16  resolved by the agencies themselves in view of the

         17  needs of the claimants and the proper administration

         18  of the public benefits programs.

         19                 The foregoing indicates that Int. No.

         20  359 will adversely impact on the operations of those

         21  City agencies that administer public benefits

         22  program.  Section 8 of the Charter provides that the

         23   "mayor shall be responsible for the effectiveness

         24  and integrity of city government operations and

         25  shall establish and maintain such policies and
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          2  procedures as are necessary and appropriate to

          3  accomplish this responsibility."  To that end, the

          4  Charter further directs heads of mayoral agencies to

          5   "determine standards for, and monitor, evaluate,

          6  and exercise general supervision over, all services

          7  and facilities under their jurisdiction."  Charter

          8  387 (b).

          9                 By directing City agencies to open

         10  broadly their facilities in such a manner that is

         11  counter to the proper effectiveness of their

         12  programs, the bill improperly restricts the powers

         13  granted to the Mayor and such agencies by the

         14  Charter. Moreover Int. No. 359 may be preempted by

         15  the Social Services Law as applied to those

         16  agencies, such as HRA, ACS, and DHS that are part of

         17  the City's Social Services District.  The policies

         18  concerning access to these agencies' facilities are

         19  directly related to the administration of social

         20  services programs governed by the Social Services

         21  Law, and courts have concluded that the State has

         22  preempted the field of local regulation in this

         23  area.  See Mayor of the City of New York versus

         24  Council of City of New York, Index No. 4015112/03,

         25  slip op. (Sup. Ct. N.Y. Co. Nov. 18, 2004);
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          2  Killett-Williams versus Bloomberg, Index No.

          3  115516/01, N.Y.L.J., May 15, 2003 (Sup. Ct. N.Y. Co.

          4  2003).

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 12:39 p.m.)

          6
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, EMILY GRAVES, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 18th day of December 2006.
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         21

         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          EMILY GRAVES

                                                            141

          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, EMILY GRAVES, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22                 -----------------------

                              EMILY GRAVES
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